
Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the March 19, 2024,
meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Drema Smith

Department: Commissioners     Contact Number: 7758158601

• Staff Summary: See attached.

• Supporting Materials: No Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      4



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the February 6, 2024,
meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Jim Hindle

Department: Clerk/Treasurer     Contact Number: 7758470969

• Staff Summary: See attached.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       5



STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS MEETING   

2/6/2024 10:00 AM   
26 SOUTH B STREET, VIRGINIA CITY, NV 

_________________________________________________________ 

MEETING MINUTES 

JAY CARMONA CLAY MITCHELL LANCE GILMAN 
CHAIRMAN          VICE-CHAIRMAN        COMMISSIONER

ANNE LANGER         JIM HINDLE 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY    CLERK-TREASURER 
__________________________________________________________________ 

Roll Call 

√ Commission Chairman Jay Carmona, √ Commission Vice-Chair Clay Mitchell,
√ Commissioner Lance Gilman, √ District Attorney Anne Langer, √ Clerk & Treasurer Jim Hindle,

√ County Manager Austin Osborne, √ Deputy District Attorney Brian Brown
□Assessor Jana Seddon
□ Justice of the Peace Eileen Herrington
√ Recorder Dru McPherson
√ Sheriff Mike Cullen
√ County Administrative Officer Honey Coughlin
√ Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar
√ Comptroller Jennifer McCain
□ Business Development Manager Lara Mather
√ Community Development Director Pete Renaud
√ Emergency Management Director Adam Wilson

√ Human Resources Director Brandie Lopez
√ IT Director James Deane
√ Planning Manager Kathy Canfield
√ Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki
√ Operations and Project Manager Mike Northan
√ Senior Center Director Stacy York
√ Tourism Director Todd Tuttle

Other:

Total Attendance: 52 In-Person: 2 Zoom: 50 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
1. CALL TO ORDER REGULAR MEETING AT 10:00 A.M.

Commission Chairman called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m.



- 2 -

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action):

4. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
agenda for the February 6, 2024, meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today’s agenda as presented. Seconded
by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

5. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
minutes from the January 2, 2024, meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the minutes from our Jan. 2, 2024,
meeting as presented. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

6. CONSENT AGENDA FOR POSSIBLE ACTION:
I. For possible action, approval of business license first readings:

A. Abrams Metals – Contractor / 7260 Delta Cir. ~ Austell, GA
B. All Things Wired – Contractor / 250 Vista Blvd. Ste. 101 ~ Sparks, NV
C. Apex Sweeping – Out of County / 762 Mount Rose St. ~ Reno, NV
D. Bali Express – Food Truck / 185 Marmot Dr. ~ Reno, NV
E. Becht Industrial Group LLC – Out of County / 2150 N Indianwood Ave. ~ Broken Arrow, OK
F. Chick-Fil-A S. McCarran & 580 – Out of County / 6365 S. McCarran Blvd. ~ Reno, NV
G. Comstock Consulting Services LLC – Home Based / 166 S. Q. St. ~ Virginia City, NV
H. Danny’s Construction Company LLC – Contractor /1066 W. 3rd Ave. ~ Shakopee, MN
I. GFI Nevada LLC – Transportation / 2903 Waltham Way ~ Sparks, NV
J. Lambs Heating and Air – Contractor / 2408 Cartwright Rd. ~ Reno, NV
K. Safe Step Walk In Tub LLC – Contractor / 15262 Pipeline Ln. ~ Huntington Beach, CA
L. Schuff Steel Company – Contractor / 3003 N. Central Ave. Ste. 1500 ~ Phoenix, AZ
M. Spite House Picture Gallery & Framing – Home Based / 318 S. D St. ~ Virginia City, NV

II Approval of claims in the amount of $2,133,504.05. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today’s Consent Agenda as presented. 
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 



- 3 -

7. DISCUSSION ONLY (No Action - No Public Comment): Committee/Staff Reports

Sheriff’s Mike Cullen
• The Sheriff’s Office received a second grant from the OHV Commission, for $36,862,

and plans to add dirt bikes to their off-road patrol detail.

Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar 
• The district still does not have an executed NVEnergy contract, and will divert personnel

to other grant funding, but another revised contract with NVEnergy is expected.

Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki 
• The department was able to get snow plowed in a timely matter.
• Response to storms has been improved.
• The department is working on the parking lot behind the justice court.
• Almost complete with road Capital Improvement Plan.
• Almost finished with engineering for Lousetown Road.

Operations & Projects Manager Mike Northan 
• Station 72 is basically complete except for power which is expected on Friday.
• All the plans for the Taylor Street reconstruction are complete and the building permit is

expected soon. The expected start of construction is Feb. 12.

Administrative Officer Honey Coughlin 
• The Lead Siphon grant from the Nevada Department of Environmental Protection is a

principal forgive grant of $1,150,000 for Phase I. The preliminary engineering and
environmental reports are nearly complete. The grant will be applied for in each of the
next four years.

• The County is moving forward with permitting for the Fairgrounds and Lockwood Senior
Center projects.

• Lara Mather is in Washington DC and working with Congressional delegates to talk
about the 2025 appropriations requests.

• The office is working with department heads, fine-tuning their Capital Improvement
Projects for FY 2025 and that will be presented on Feb. 20.

Emergency Management Director Adam Wilson 
• The annual compliance to the state emergency response commission was submitted. The

County hit every level of compliance.
• The Courthouse mitigation window project had a second site walk from the vendor to get

security film on the windows.
• March 20 will be the Active Assailant Tabletop Project training.
• People should be prepared for weather difficulties.



- 4 -

• The Federal Emergency Management project is stalled with environmental review, but
every other project has been moved along.

Tourism Director Todd Tuttle 
• The VCTC Board meeting will be Thursday at Piper’s Opera House with no Zoom

option.
• Saturday, Feb. 10, from noon to 5 p.m., is the Devil Made Me Do It Saloon Crawl.
• The Merchant Mix and Mingle will be 6 p.m. at Piper’s Opera House.
• The Mountain Oyster Fry is ready to go on March 16.
• Go West will have its annual conference Feb. 27-March 1 in South Lake Tahoe, and

Virginia City will host a “Familiarization Tour” during those dates.

Comptroller Jennifer McCain 
• Executime is progressing nicely. Six departments no longer need to add timecards. Before

the end of the fiscal year, all departments should be on the electronic process.
• It is budget season and department budgets are due on Friday. Then there will be a

committee review process with the Tentative Budget ready in April.

IT Director Jason Deane 
• Working on new camera projects for the swimming pool, Five Mile Reservoir, the park

and gazebo.

Senior Services Director Stacy York 
• Exercise classes are offered by the Virginia City Senior Center from 10 to 11 a.m. every

Thursday at Community Chest.
• Heather Billings is offering to help seniors with their taxes.
• There will be a Veterans Administration Outreach program Feb. 7.

County Manager Austin Osborne 
• Linda Ritter is finishing the Strategic Plan and Capital Improvement Plan, and both will

be ready for the Feb. 20 meeting.
• Master Plan town halls are planned for Lockwood and Mark Twain as soon as dates

become available.
• The Planning Department’s town hall in Lockwood on Jan. 25 was well attended.

Clerk-Treasurer’s Office 
• Today is Election Day for the Presidential Preference Primary. Polling Centers are at the

fire stations in Lockwood and the Virginia City Highlands, the Community Center in
Mark Twain, and the Slammer in Virginia City.



- 5 -

8. BOARD COMMENT (No Action - No Public Comment)
• Commissioner Carmona thanked Public Works for road clearing. He also noted the

passing of Nicole Schoelkoph, a waitress at Canvas Café.

9. DISCUSSION ONLY: Storey County FY24 2nd quarter budget vs actual review.

Comptroller Jennifer McCain said that this is review for 2nd quarter of FY 2024. She said most
funds are trending as planned, with 80 percent collected due to the front-loading of ad
valorem taxes. She said expenses for most departments are trending at or below budget. Some
expense increases are expected, such as postage, telephone, auto maintenance and
administrative office supplies. Ms. McCain said that the Sheriff’s Office was over budget on
inmate medical costs, insurance with five claims pending, and special investigations, none of
which can be controlled. She said District Court was over budget due to weekend stipends,
which happened after the budget was complete. Ms. McCain said all overages were approved
by the board, county manager, or herself.

Ms. McCain said the Capital Improvement Project fund was at 28 percent usage due to large
projects in planning phases. Road expenses are only 5 percent, as most projects begin in the
spring.

Public Comment: None

10. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to
consider Letters of Interest from applicants to serve on the Virginia City Tourism
Commission (VCTC) and to appoint a Merchant Representative to the VCTC Board.

Administrative Officer Honey Coughlin said that three letters of interest were received for
the Merchant board member position on the VCTC Board: Alexia Sober, Janice Oberding,
and Gretchen Lavach. Interviews were conducted and all applicants showed an impressive
background. Their engagement with the community and business district in Virginia City is
noted and greatly appreciated. Based on qualifications, experience, and knowledge, county
staff recommend the appointment of Gretchen Lavach to the VCTC board.

Public Comment: None

Motion: In accordance with the recommendation by county staff, Commissioner Mitchell,
move to appoint Gretchen Lavach to serve as the Merchant Representative on the Virginia
City Tourism Commission Board. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed
unanimously.

11. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to
consider Letters of Interest from applicants to serve on the Virginia City Tourism
Commission (VCTC) and to appoint a Hotel Representative to the VCTC Board.



- 6 -

Ms. Coughlin said that two letters of interest were received for the Hotel board member 
position on the VCTC Board: Jill Clough and Paul Hoyle. Interviews were conducted and 
both applicants showed an impressive background. Their engagement with the community 
and business district in Virginia City and Gold Hill is noted and greatly appreciated. Based 
on qualifications, experience, and knowledge of the Virginia City Tourism Commission, 
county staff recommend the reappointment of Paul Hoyle to the VCTC board.  

Public Comment: None 

Motion: In accordance with the recommendation by county staff, I, Commissioner Mitchell, 
move to reappoint Paul Hoyle to serve as the Hotel Representative on the Virginia City 
Tourism Commission Board. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed 
unanimously. 

12. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: To authorize the County Manager to approve
an amendment to the Tyler Annual Software Contract for ERP PRO, previously approved in
the 2023-2024 Budget. Community Development is moving from a Fire Based System to a
Building Based Permitting & Inspection System. An increase of approximately $2,148 is
anticipated for this software. A pro-rated refund is expected from the Fire Based system once
the new system is up and working. The amended increase should be covered by the pro-rated
refund from the fire-based system.

Community Development Director Pete Renaud said there was no building-based system for
permitting and inspection, and his department had been using a fire-based system, which
included things not appropriate for building permitting and inspections. He said this software
would improve efficiency as it was designed for departments such as Community
Development.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the authorization for the County
Manager to approve an amendment to The Tyler Annual Software Contract for ERP Pro -
Incode, Permitting and Mobile Inspections for Community Development construction
permitting and inspections. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

13. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY WATER AND SEWER BOARD

14. DISCUSSION ONLY: Water-Sewer FY24 2nd quarter budget vs actual review.

Comptroller McCain said at the 2nd quarter review, Water and Sewer funds are trending as
expected, at 55 percent for Water and 51 percent for Sewer of Budget respectively.



- 7 -

Public Comment: None 

15. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY HIGHWAY BOARD

16. DISCUSSION ONLY: Report of Public Works Department regarding roads and highways in
Storey County.

Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki said:
• The department is working on the parking lot behind the justice court.
• Almost complete with road Capital Improvement Plan.
• Almost finished with engineering for Lousetown Road.

Public Comment: None 

17. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR LICENSING
BOARD

18. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: For consideration and possible approval of the
First Reading On-Sale Liquor License. The applicant is Paul Peter Remneff, Howdy’s Grub
located at 5 North C Street Unit B, Virginia City, Nevada.

Undersheriff Eric Kern said the investigation was complete and there were no disqualifiers.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the First Reading First Reading On-
Sale Liquor License. The applicant is Paul Peter Remneff, Howdy’s Grub, located at 5 North
C Street Unit B, Virginia City, Nevada. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed
unanimously.

19. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT BOARD

20. DISCUSSION ONLY: Fire District FY24 2nd quarter budget vs actual review.

Comptroller McCain said in the 2nd quarter review, the Fire District budget is at expected
revenues and expenses. Revenue is 63 percent collected and expenses are at 35 percent. The
Capital Projects fund is at 7 percent. Ms. McCain said she does not expect things to change.

Public Comment: None



- 8 -

21. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of an
updated interlocal agreement for regional Hazardous Materials emergency response within
Douglas County, Lyon County, Carson City, and Storey County.

Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar said this allows for two hazmat technicians to be part of the
interlocal agreement for Quad County Haz Mat team, which includes Douglas County,
Carson City, Lyon County and Storey County.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the updated interlocal agreement
for Hazardous Materials emergency response within the quad counties and authorize the Fire
Chief to sign. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

22. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible approval of the final
fiscal year 25 through 29 Storey County Fire Protection District Capital Improvement Plan
(CIP) including facilities and infrastructure, plans and studies, staffing, and equipment and
vehicles.

Fire Chief Loncar said the numbers are the best estimates he has, considering inflation and
supply chain demands. He said there is money, but the district is waiting for equipment to
come in, as he cannot get delivery in the same budget year. Chief Loncar said that because of
that, he is looking at a 3-year plan for equipment, but wants to order equipment soon so the
price is locked in, and the district won’t have to pay inflated rates later. He also said that
there was a time when $10 million for a fire facility was reasonable, but costs went up
considerably, contractors are harder to get, and costs will increase as time goes on.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the final fiscal year 25 through 29
Storey County Fire Protection District Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) including facilities
and infrastructure, plans and studies, staffing, and equipment and vehicles. Seconded by:
Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

23. RECESS TO RECONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISSIONERS

24. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discuss and consider authorizing the County
Manager to sign and approve a contract between Storey County and Lakota HRM, LLC
commencing February 6, 2024, and ending June 30, 2025, in an amount of $95.00/hour not
exceeding 600 hours on an as-needed basis, for the purpose of providing prescribed human
resources services including labor relations, independent administrative investigations, union
contract negotiations, and other related services.



- 9 -

Austin said that Jeanne Greene, who has assisted the county in the past with human resources 
issues, was the manager of this company and the county would like to continue the contract 
for another year and a half. She would assist with union contracts, Memoranda of 
Understanding, and investigations if necessary. This would cover the county, the Fire District 
and the VCTC. This would not exceed 600 hours.   

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve authorizing the County Manager to sign 
and approve a contract between Storey County and Lakota HRM, LLC commencing 
February 6, 2024, and ending June 30, 2025, in an amount of $95.00/hour not exceeding 600 
hours on an as-needed basis, for the purpose of providing prescribed human resources 
services including labor relations, independent administrative investigations, union contract 
negotiations, and other related services. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed 
unanimously.  

25. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Per Commissioner Gilman’s request,
discussion and consideration directing county officials to proceed with necessary research
about procedures including, but not limited to, providing conditional offers, cooperative
efforts, and taking necessary governing action, and to bring findings and recommendations
back to the board for consideration to establish easements or rights-of-ways for a public road,
utilities, and other associated county public infrastructure on portions of land located at
Assessor’s Parcel Numbers (APNs) 004-154-27 owned by Solar Farms, LLC; 004-151-06
Virginia Highlands, LLC; and/or 004-211-06 NV Uplands, LLC, and other properly related
matters.

Commissioner Gilman said that 12 years ago the county was successful in a lawsuit
involving the Cordevista ranch, previously known as TRW, which was expected to be a major
residential project. The land was mostly zoned industrial. He said adequate development into
that property was necessary. We need to ensure that we have adequate access to that property
and ensure adequate development. He said it is not easily accessed through the west and
would require highway grade roads, across the mesa and toward TRI. He said topography is a
problem. He would like to have staff take a detailed look at this property in terms of access.
Commissioner Mitchell agreed.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to direct county officials to proceed with necessary
research about procedures including, but not limited to, providing conditional offers,
cooperative efforts, and taking necessary governing action, and to bring findings and
recommendations back to the board for consideration to establish easements or rights-of-
ways for a public road, utilities, and other associated county public infrastructure on portions



- 10 -

of land located at Assessor’s Parcel Numbers (APNs) 004-154- 27 owned by Solar Farms, 
LLC; 004-151-06 Virginia Highlands, LLC; and/or 004-211- 06 NV Uplands, LLC, and other 
properly related matters.  

26. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and consideration for approval a
negotiated ten-year franchise agreement between Storey County and Waste Management, Inc.
(dba “Storey County Sanitation”) for the collection of solid waste and recyclables in Storey
County.

Joe Sloan of Sloan Vazquez McAfee, said the county did better in final negotiations with
Waste Management, with the company agreeing to speed up use of special service vehicles,
provide 3,500 vouchers for the transfer station and dump, and a reduction of the commercial
rate by 3.5 percent. He also said the disposal rate came down for temp and roll-off bins, the
senior rate was reduced by 10 percent, and the low-income senior rate was lowered by 30
percent.

Mr. Sloan said the two sides agreed to alternative language in the indemnification and
insurance stipulations, and a Memorandum of Understanding must be added before executing
the final document. He said three issues yet unresolved included adding the Lockwood GID
in the voucher program, days of operation for the transfer station and the audit date.

After discussion, it was decided to wait to consider lowering the 8 percent franchise fee, but
it could come up again at a future meeting. Commissioner Carmona asked if there was a
direct savings for customers? Mr. Sloan said there would; that the lowering of the franchise
fee would have no impact on the contractor. Commissioner Carmona said he supported
lessening or eliminating the franchise fee. Commissioner Gilman suggested the board
approve the contract now and decide in the future to reduce or eliminate the franchise fee, but
to approve the contract as it stands.

District Attorney Anne Langer said the commissioners should put the indemnification and
insurance language into the motion. She also said lessening the franchise fee would also have
to be part of the motion.

Deputy District Attorney Bryan Brown described the process for developing the new
insurance and indemnification language.

Public Comment: Terry Bently of Nevada Recycling and Salvage, the other bidder on the
Solid Waste agreement, thanked the county for the opportunity to bid.

Ms. Langer said that insurance and indemnification no longer had to be part of the motion as
they were already clarified. Commissioner Mitchell suggested a second motion regarding the
franchise fee and Ms. Langer agreed.



- 11 -

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the negotiated ten-year franchise 
agreement between Storey County and Waste Management, Inc. (dba “Storey County 
Sanitation”) for the collection of solid waste and recyclables in Storey County to include the 
amendments and updating that reflect agreements on voucher availability countywide to 
include Lockwood, transfer station days of operation, the audit date as addressed in Section 
8.12. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

Motion: Under this agenda item, I, Commissioner Mitchell, make a separate motion to direct 
staff to prepare some analysis on the impact of changing the franchise fee and bring that back 
to us at a regularly scheduled meeting within the next 60 days. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. 
Vote: Motion passed unanimously.  

27. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: First Reading of Bill No. 139, Ordinance No.
24-327, an ordinance adding Article III District No. 2 to Chapter 3.50 to the Storey County
Code creating Storey County Economic Diversification District No. 2 and providing for other
properly related matters.

Austin Osborne said this is the first reading of an ordinance that recognizes there is time to 
review. Changes can happen to the document. The second reading will be on Feb. 20, and 
there will be discussion for residents. 

This ordinance allows for a second Storey County Diversification District, like the first that 
allowed Tesla to gain tax abatements when the Gigafactory in TRI was being planned. The 
second diversification district will add a 10-year abatement to improvements on either vacant 
land, or personal property improvements in existing buildings left unused. 

Mr. Osborne offered a power point on the new expansion at the industrial park that would be 
subject to the second diversification district, dividing the area into five separate sections: 
Milan, Electric, New West, Viewshed and Main, which covers Tesla-owned property in the 
industrial park.  

Mr. Osborne said the 10-year abatements would be for real estate taxes, personal property 
taxes, and sales and use taxes. Criteria include how much money is invested and what the 
average wages are. 

Mr. Osborne said that any expansion after Nov. 30, 2023, will be included in abatements. 
Any structure existing before Dec. 1, 2023, will be taxed, and expansion in parking lots on 
abated land always stays taxed. Buildings that are leaseholds will be taxed, but the contents 
will be abated. 

Mr. Osborne read the title of the ordinance into the record. 

Public Comment: None 



- 12 -

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve First Reading adding Article III District 
No. 2 to Chapter 3.50 to the Storey County Code creating Storey County Economic 
Diversification District No. 2 and providing for other properly related matters. Seconded by: 
Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

28. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible action to approve
the Governmental Services Agreement for Storey County Economic Diversification District
No. 2 (EDD2) between Storey County and Tesla, Inc. defraying county costs providing law
enforcement, administration, infrastructure, and other services to EDD2. This item will be
continued to the next board meeting following discussion and public comment.

Mr. Osborne said the county is negotiating with Tesla on providing services that will allow
the county sheriff, fire, and public works to respond with services to areas that have been
abated.

Commissioner Carmona suggested asking Tesla to communicate with the state their
recommendation it protect Storey County’s tax revenue.

Mr. Osborne said this subject can be discussed at the special meeting Feb. 16 for a
discussion-only workshop.

Public Comment: None

Motion: After discussion and comments, I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to continue to our
Feb. 16, 2024, special meeting of the Board of Storey County Commissioners this
Governmental Services Agreement for Storey County Economic Diversification District No.
2 (EDD2) between Storey County and Tesla, Inc. defraying county costs providing law
enforcement, administration, infrastructure, and other services to EDD2. Seconded by:
Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

29. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action): None

30. ADJOURNMENT OF ALL ACTIVE AND RECESSED BOARDS ON THE AGENDA
Commission Chairman Jay Carmona adjourned the meeting at 12:32 p.m.

Respectfully submitted, 

____________________________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk & Treasurer 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the February 15, 2024,
meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Jim Hindle

Department: Clerk & Treasurer     Contact Number: 17758470969

• Staff Summary: See attached.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       6



STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS MEETING

2/15/2024 10:00 AM   
26 SOUTH B STREET, VIRGINIA CITY, NV 

_________________________________________________________ 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

JAY CARMONA CLAY MITCHELL LANCE GILMAN 
CHAIRMAN VICE-CHAIRMAN COMMISSIONER 

ANNE LANGER JIM HINDLE 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY CLERK& TREASURER 
__________________________________________________________________ 

Roll Call 
√ Commission Chairman Jay Carmona, √ Commission Vice-Chair Clay Mitchell,

√ Commissioner Lance Gilman, √ District Attorney Anne Langer, √ Clerk & Treasurer Jim Hindle,
√ County Manager Austin Osborne, √ Deputy District Attorney Brian Brown

□Assessor Jana Seddon
□ Justice of the Peace Eileen Herrington
√ Recorder Dru McPherson
√ Sheriff Mike Cullen
√ County Administrative Officer Honey Coughlin
□ Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar
√ Comptroller Jennifer McCain
√ Business Development Manager Lara Mather
√ Community Development Director Pete Renaud
√ Emergency Management Director Adam Wilson

√ Human Resources Director Brandie Lopez
□ IT Director James Deane
√ Planning Manager Kathy Canfield
√ Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki
□ Operations and Project Manager Mike Northan
□ Senior Center Director Stacy York
√ Tourism Director Todd Tuttle

Other:

Total Attendance - 37 In-Person - 11 Zoom  - 26 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
1. CALL TO ORDER SPECIAL MEETING AT 10:00 A.M.

Commissioner Carmona called the meeting to order at 10:04 a.m.



- 2 -

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action): None

4. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
agenda for the February 15, 2024, special meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today’s agenda as presented. Seconded
by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

5. CONSENT AGENDA FOR POSSIBLE ACTION:
I. Possible approval updating the list of county appointments to serve on state, county, and
regional boards and committees for the 2024 calendar year.

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today’s Consent Agenda as presented. 
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

6. DISCUSSION ONLY (No Action - No Public Comment): Committee/Staff Reports

Tourism Director Todd Tuttle
• Nearly 500 tickets were sold for the recent Devil Made Me Do It Saloon Crawl.
• The next event is the Mountain Oyster Fry and St. Patrick’s Day Parade on March 16.

Planning Manager Kathy Canfield 
• The Planning Commission meeting at 6 p.m. Feb. 15 will cover a source water protection

plan, with representatives from the Nevada Department of Environmental Protection to
make a presentation.

7. BOARD COMMENT (No Action - No Public Comment)
Commissioner Carmona noted the passing of former Public Works employee Barbara Bowers.

8. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the final
canvass of the results of the February 6th, 2024, Presidential Primary Election held in and for
Storey County.

Clerk-Treasurer Jim Hindle said this canvass of the vote was for the Presidential Preference
Primary held on Feb. 6, 2024. The canvass can’t be fully included in the meeting packet and
notice due to timing, as ballots postmarked Feb. 6 have four days to arrive, and cured ballots
have six days to be counted. Mr. Hindle gave an election summary report, indicating that the



- 3 -

vote was conducted as planned with no issues. It was a closed primary, so only Democrats and 
Republicans were allowed to vote. He said there was a very low turnout for both the county 
and the state, so there are no statistical trends to note. Mr. Hindle showed a presentation on the 
voting results, by precinct as well as by candidate, which are available on the Clerk’s pages of 
the county website, under “Election Information”.  

Commissioner Carmona and Mr. Hindle thanked the staff and volunteers. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the final canvass of the February 6th, 
2024, Presidential Primary Election held in and for Storey County and that the County Clerk 
make a copy of the abstract and make a mechanical report of the abstract to the Secretary of 
State. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

9. DISCUSSION ONLY: Review, discuss, and provide comments and public review on Bill No.
139, Ordinance No. 24-327 amending Storey County Code 3.50 adding Economic
Diversification District No. 2, and draft Government Services Agreement defraying county
costs needed to provide government services to Economic Diversification District No. 2
related to Tesla, Inc.’s application to the Governor’s Office of Economic Development for
certain sales and use tax, real property tax, and personal property tax abatements for
Gigafactory 2 and/or related expansion activities, and other properly related matters. This item
does not pertain to Economic Diversification District No. 1.

County Manager Austin Osborne said this is a workshop to get public comment and
commissioner input about creating an ordinance proposal to create Economic Diversification
District No. 2. He said it is different from Economic Diversification District No. 1, which was
passed in 2015 to accommodate the tax abatement requested by Tesla for its Gigafactory 1.
There is also the issue of a Government Services Agreement to defray costs associated with
serving the area. The draft ordinance, along with related documents are on Page 7 of the BOC
packet, located on the Storey County Web Site under Agendas: Board of Commissioners.

Mr. Osborne said the ordinance defines the district and does not include real estate or personal
property that was included in EDD1. Anything under EDD1 will be taxed as of June 30, 2024.

For the Milan and Viewshed sections, there is no land involved, but building expansion would
be abated under EDD2. For the New West section, which was not part of EDD1, abatements
would be effective Dec. 1, 2023. For the Electric section, land would not be abated, but
expansions would be. The final section will be subject to abatement on July 1, 2024, with new
parking lots, poles and other improvements being abated.

Mr. Osborne said discussions were still going on with the state Department of Taxation and
the District Attorney’s office.



- 4 -

On the Government Services Agreement, Mr. Osborne said that the draft includes Tesla paying 
for seven sheriff’s deputies, including personal protective equipment, vehicles, and other 
equipment. The company would also provide a pilot car. Tesla will also pay 85 percent of the 
cost of a traffic signal at the intersection of Milan and Electric in TRIC. The Assessor’s Office 
will be covered for appraisals and an independent auditor, and a 911 dispatcher will be 
funded. Mr. Osborne said the costs will be paid for a term of 10 years, with payments to begin 
in July 2024. The amount is $11.2 million over two years, with $2.1 million for Dispatch. The 
county will receive $13.68 million over time, with an 8.8 percent penalty for failure to make 
payments on time. Mr. Osborne said there are re-openers in the draft GSA so that changes can 
be discussed.  

Commissioner Gilman called the agreement a very workable baseline, and all the 
commissioners thanked county staff and Tesla representatives. 

The second reading of this ordinance and the GSA will be voted on by the commissioners on 
Feb. 20, 2024. 

Public Comment: None 

10. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action):

11. ADJOURNMENT OF ALL ACTIVE AND RECESSED BOARDS ON THE AGENDA
Commissioner Carmona adjourned the meeting at 10:50 a.m.

Respectfully submitted, 

____________________________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk & Treasurer 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: For possible action, approval of business license first readings:
• A.   775 Electric LLC – Contractor / 130 Alamosa St. ~ Dayton, NV
• B.   A Affordable Striping & Sealing – Contractor / 4440 E. Alexander Ste. A ~ Las

Vegas, NV
• C.   Criterion Construction LLC – Contractor / 2175 Lakeside Dr. ~ Reno, NV
• D.   LeafFilter North, LLC – Contractor / 1595 Georgetown Rd ~ Hudson, OH
• E.   Legion Solar Power LLC – Contractor / 2645 W. Cheyenne Ave ~ North Las Vegas,

NV
• F.   LTI Contracting – Contractor / 22631 N. 18th Ave. ~ Phoenix, AZ
• G.   MMI Tank Inc. – Contractor / 3240 S. 37th Ave. ~ Phoenix, AZ
• H.   Pavers by Porter – Contractor / 645 Tranquil Dr. ~ Sparks, NV
• I.    Redline Technical Services LLC – Contractor / 5595 Tarzyn Rd. ~ Fallon, NV
• J.    Tahoe Mini Crane Service – Contractor / 213 W. Gardengate Way ~ Carson City,

NV

• Recommended motion: None required (if approved as part of the Consent Agenda) I
move to approve all first readings (if removed from consent agenda by request).

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department: Community Development     Contact Number: 775-847-0966

• Staff Summary: First readings of submitted business license applications are normally
approved on the consent agenda. The applications are then submitted at the next
Commissioner's meeting for approval.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

     7  I



____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office March 11, 2024 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the March 19, 2024 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

FIRST READINGS: 

A. 775 Electric LLC – Contractor / 130 Alamosa St. ~ Dayton, NV

B. A Affordable Striping & Sealing – Contractor / 4440 E. Alexander Ste. A ~ Las Vegas, NV

C. Criterion Construction LLC – Contractor / 2175 Lakeside Dr. ~ Reno, NV

D. LeafFilter North, LLC – Contractor / 1595 Georgetown Rd ~ Hudson, OH

E. Legion Solar Power LLC – Contractor / 2645 W. Cheyenne Ave ~ North Las Vegas, NV

F. LTI Contracting – Contractor / 22631 N. 18th Ave. ~ Phoenix, AZ

G. MMI Tank Inc. – Contractor / 3240 S. 37th Ave. ~ Phoenix, AZ

H. Pavers by Porter – Contractor / 645 Tranquil Dr. ~ Sparks, NV

I. Redline Technical Services LLC – Contractor / 5595 Tarzyn Rd. ~ Fallon, NV

J. Tahoe Mini Crane Service – Contractor / 213 W. Gardengate Way ~ Carson City, NV

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0 min

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Approval of claims in the amount of $2,557,497.49.

• Recommended motion: Approval of claims as sumbitted.

• Prepared by: Cory Y Wood

Department: Comptroller     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: Please find attached claims.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      7  II







































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Consideration and approval of the Eagleview aerial imagery and software program
for a 5 year contract in the amount of $177,656.38. This is a budgeted item to be paid out
of the Assessor's Tech fund.

• Recommended motion: Approval

• Prepared by: Jana Seddon

Department: Assessor     Contact Number: 775-847-0961

• Staff Summary: This is the contract to fly the Industrial park and the Assessor
reappraisal, every year for the next 5 years.  All property must be reappraised once every
5 years, so these flights will cover for a full county wide appraisal cycle.  The Industrial
Park gets flown every year. This is a budgeted item to be paid out of the Assessor's Tech
fund.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     7  III









































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Presentation by Storey County School District planned K-8 school facility
expansion project.

• Recommended motion: No action.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department: County Manager     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: Storey County School District as part of its public outreach efforts
requested an opportunity to present plans for school expansions serving Storey County.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       10



Virginia  City  Elementary  and
Middle School  Campus  Project

Hess Construction



Why A New School Building?

Safety

Efficiency

County Benefits

Financial Ability



Project Summary

Standalone Structure - 37,000 - 40,000 SF 

$20 - $22 Million Construction Budget
Anticipated Total Project Costs up to $28 Million

Construction Commencement Late 2024 / Early 
2025

Completion for 2026 / 2027 School Year











Financing 



Financing



Timing



Current Design



Current Design





Questions?

Hess Construction



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15mins

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Presentation by Foundational Public Health Services (FPHS) Assessment for
Storey County stakeholders to guide investment in prevention efforts that will help the
United States avoid and/or lessen the disruption of future pandemics and epidemics and
focus on chronic issues as well as advance equity.

• Recommended motion: None needed, presentation only.

• Prepared by: Stacy York

Department: Senior Center     Contact Number: 17752207202

• Staff Summary: Foundational Public Health Services (FPHS) provides the needed
framework for investment that will help communities avoid and/or lessen the disruption
of future pandemics and epidemics, continue to address chronic issues and advance
health equity. FPHS provides a common language and national understanding of the vital
role and unique responsibilities of governmental public health; the ability to assess gaps
in capacity for which costs can be estimated; standardization to assure continuity across
all state, bet with the flexibility for communities to adapt to specific needs; and alignment
with national initiatives, such as public health accreditation.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification

       11



[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

1 

Background 

As the nation begins to assess how to rebuild in the post COVID-19 pandemic period, the concept of 

Foundational Public Health Services (FPHS), in particular Foundational Capabilities, has gained new traction. 

This document contains an assessment of each of Nevada’s counties’ current public health 

infrastructure in alignment with the FPHS for local, state, and federal governments to target and 

consider new investments in minimum public health infrastructure.  

In 2013, the Public Health Leadership Forum, a project led by RESOLVE and funded by the Robert Wood 

Johnson Foundation (RWJF) convened a group of public health stakeholders to explore a recommendation 

from the Institute of Medicine (IOM) – to define a minimum package of public health capabilities and 

programs that no jurisdictions can be without. The result was the Foundational Public Health Services 

(FPHS), now housed at the Public Health National Center for Innovations (PHNCI) at the Public Health 

Accreditation Board (PHAB). 

FPHS provides the needed framework for investment that will help communities avoid and/or lessen the 

disruption of future pandemics and epidemics, continue to address chronic issues and advance health 

equity. FPHS provide: 

• A common language and national understanding of the vital role and unique responsibilities of

governmental public health.

• The ability to assess gaps in capacity for which costs can be estimated.

• Standardization to assure continuity across all states, but with the flexibility for communities to

adapt to specific needs; and

• Alignment with national initiatives, such as public health accreditation.

Nevada’s FPHS 

FPHS are a minimum package of public health services and cross-cutting capabilities that local governments 

and jurisdictions should have or have access to. 

Foundational program areas: Foundational capabilities: 

Communicable Disease Control Assessment & Surveillance 

Chronic Disease & Injury Prevention Community Partnership Development 

Environmental Public Health Equity 

Maternal, Child, & Family Health Organizational Competencies 

Access to & Linkage with Clinical Care Policy Development & Support 

Accountability & Performance Management 

Emergency Preparedness & Response 

Communications 



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

2 

Figure 1 – Foundational Public Health Services 



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

3 

Instructions 

Representatives from County governments and key stakeholders from Nevada’s 15 Rural and Frontier 

counties will complete the Foundational Areas Baseline Assessment and Foundational Capabilities 

Baseline Assessment tools via online survey through Qualtrics with definitions and examples starting on 

page 4 of this document. Participants will provide ratings in three categories (Expertise, Capacity, and 

Overall Level of Implementation) in addition to qualitative responses on services offered by the county, 

state, and private and/or not-for-profit organizations.  

Selecting Levels of Expertise 

• Absent – None, or basic awareness of the expertise, but limited ability to apply it.

• Basic – Knowledge of the expertise and can apply it at a basic level.

• Proficient– Expertise is available and can be applied adeptly.

• Expert – Expertise is routinely applied and those with the expertise can build it within others.

Selecting Levels of Capacity 

• Absent – Staff time and other resources are not present or are largely unavailable.

• Minimal – Some staff time and/or other resources are present to complete basic functions.

• Moderate – Most staff time and other resources are present to partially implement most functions.

• Full – Sufficient staff time and other resources are present to fully implement all functions.

Selecting Levels of Program Implementation 

• Fully Implemented/ Meets Demand – Services are fully implemented as well as meet the

community’s overall demand for public health services in this area.

• Sufficient Services – Services are mostly implemented as well as meet the community’s overall

demand for public health services in the area.

• Some Services – Some public health services are available. There is an overall demand for public

health services in the community.

• Minimal Services – Minimal public health services are available. There is significant overall demand

for public health services in the community.

• Lacking/No Services – There are no public health services available in this foundational area. There

is significant overall demand for public health services in this community.

A response of ‘Don’t Know’ will also be available for each category. 

For the purposes of this assessment, local and state community health needs assessments may be utilized 

to assess the community’s overall demand for public health services. 

All Foundational Areas and Foundational Capabilities that have not achieved “full implementation” 

(i.e., meeting the baseline recommendations for governmental public health) on the assessment tool 

will be noted in the final report as “investment priority areas” to achieve an optimal base level of 

public health infrastructure in Nevada.  



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

4 

Foundational Areas 

Below find a list of definitions and examples of the Foundational Areas. This includes the Headline 

Responsibilities of each Foundational Area as defined by the PHNCI.  

Communicable Disease Control 

• Develop a communicable disease prevention plan, as well as plans for the prevention and

control of specific communicable diseases.

• Provide timely, scientifically accurate, and locally relevant information on communicable

diseases and their control.

• Implement population-based communicable disease prevention and control programs and

strategies.

• Inform, communicate, work cooperatively with, and influence others on policy, system, and

programmatic changes for communicable disease prevention and control.

• Conduct disease investigations and respond to communicable disease outbreaks.

• Enforce public health laws to prevent and control communicable diseases.

• Maintain or participate in a statewide immunization program and assure the availability of

immunizations to the public.

Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention 

• Develop a chronic disease and injury prevention plan, as well as plans for the prevention

and control of specific chronic diseases or sources of injury.

• Provide timely, scientifically accurate, and locally relevant information on chronic diseases

and injury prevention.

• Implement population-based strategies to address issues related to chronic disease and

injury.

• Inform, communicate, work cooperatively with, and influence others on policy, system, and

environmental changes that will prevent harm and improve health related to chronic

disease and injury.

Environmental Public Health 

• Develop a plan to promote environmental health.

• Provide timely, scientifically accurate, and locally relevant information on the environment

and environmental threats and their control.

• Implement population-based environmental health programs and strategies.

• Inform, communicate, work cooperatively with, and influence others whose work impacts

environmental health.

• Diagnose, investigate, and respond to environmental threats to the public’s health.

• Conduct mandated environmental public health inspections and oversight to protect the

public from hazards in accordance with federal, state, and local laws and regulations.



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

5 

Maternal, Child, and Family Health 

• Develop a maternal and child health plan, as well as plans for addressing specific maternal,

child, and family health issues.

• Provide timely, scientifically accurate, and locally relevant information on maternal, child,

and family health.

• Implement population-based strategies to address issues related to maternal, child, and

family health.

• Inform, communicate, work cooperatively with, and influence others on policy, system, and

environmental changes that will prevent harm and improve maternal, child, and family

health.

• Assure provision of mandated newborn screenings and follow-ups according to state or

federal mandates.

Access to and Linkage with Clinical Care 

• Develop a plan to address gaps and barriers and assure access to clinical care services.

• Provide timely, scientifically accurate, and locally relevant information on the importance,

impact, and accessibility of the healthcare systems, including barriers to care.

• Implement population-based strategies to improve barriers to accessing clinical care.

• Inform, communicate, work cooperatively with, and influence others on policy, system, and

programmatic changes to facilitate access to health services.

• Examine and monitor the quality, effectiveness, and cost-efficiency of clinical care.

• Ensure licensed health care facilities and providers comply with laws and rules as

appropriate.



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

 
6 

Foundational Capabilities 

Below find a list of definitions and examples of the Foundational Capabilities. This includes the 

Headline Responsibilities of each Foundational Capability as defined by the PHNCI.  

 

Assessment & Surveillance 

• Develop and maintain an assessment and analysis infrastructure. 

• Use collaborative processes to assess community health and identify health priorities. 

• Develop and maintain a surveillance and epidemiology infrastructure. 

• Develop and maintain a vital records infrastructure. 

• Develop and maintain a public health laboratory infrastructure. 

 

Community Partnership Development 

• Develop and maintain capabilities to cultivate relationships and convene partners. 

• Develop and maintain strategic partnerships with governmental and non-governmental 

partners. 

• Develop and maintain trusted relationships with communities. 

• Use collaborative processes to develop health improvement plans to address identified 

priorities. 

 

Equity 

• Develop and demonstrate agency commitment to equity. 

• Inform and influence public and external organizational policies to advance equity. 

 

Organizational Competencies 

• Maintain a governance structure and establish the strategic direction for public health. 

• Provide or access services for information technology, privacy, and security. 

• Provide or access human resources services and develop and maintain a competent 

workforce. 

• Provide or access financial management services and facilitate contracting, procurement, 

and maintenance of facilities and operations. 

• Access public health legal services and analysis. 

 

Policy Development & Support 

• Develop, amend, and enact public health policies in collaboration with partners, 

policymakers, and community members. 

• Participate in policy development initiatives being considered by partners that affect the 

public's health. 

• Implement and support enacted public health policies. 

 

 



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

7 

Accountability & Performance Management 

• Maintain accountability according to accepted business practices, applicable policies, and

public health accreditations.

• Maintain a performance management structure and establish appropriate quality

improvement initiatives.

Emergency Preparedness & Response 

• Establish governmental public health’s role in preparedness and response to incidents.

• Develop, exercise, and maintain preparedness and response plans.

• Assure public health continuity of operations.

• Respond to incidents.

• Recover from incidents.

Communications 

• Develop and maintain a public communications infrastructure.

• Develop and maintain public health education and risk communication capabilities.



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

8 

State of Nevada 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and 
organization if different 
than state government 
(such as contractors) 

County 

Please list all 
programs/services currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government 

(such as contractors) 

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and list 
organization 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Communicable 

Disease Control 

Expertise 

(knowledge, skills, 

education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff 

and/or other 

resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully

Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient

Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No

Services

Examples:  

• Laboratory

Testing

Examples: 

• Disease Surveillance

• Epidemiology

Examples: 

• Disease

Surveillance

• Epidemiology

Examples: 

• Contact Tracing

• Data

Collection/Analysis

• Surveillance



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

9 

State of Nevada 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and 
organization if different 
than state government 
(such as contractors) 

County 

Please list all 
programs/services currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government 

(such as contractors) 

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and list 
organization 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Chronic Disease 

and Injury 

Prevention 

Expertise 

(knowledge, skills, 

education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff 

and/or other 

resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully

Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient

Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No

Services

Examples: 

• Diabetes

• Tobacco Control &

Prevention

Examples: 

• Diabetes

• Tobacco Control &

Prevention 

Examples: 

• Diabetes

• Tobacco Control &

Prevention 

Examples: 

• Injury Prevention

Programs 

• Screenings 

• Diabetes

• Tobacco Control &

Prevention 



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

 
10 

 

State of Nevada 
 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and 
organization if different 
than state government 
(such as contractors) 

County 
 

Please list all 
programs/services currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government 

(such as contractors) 

Regional Health 

Department/District 
 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and list 
organization 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 
 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Environmental 

Public Health 

 
Expertise 

(knowledge, skills, 

education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent 

☐ Basic 

☐ Proficient 

☐ Expert 

 

Capacity (staff 

and/or other 

resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent 

☐ Minimal 

☐ Moderate 

☐ Full 

 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully 

Implemented/  

Meets Demand 

☐ Sufficient 

Services 

☐ Some Services 

☐ Minimal Services 

☐ Lacking/No 

Services 

 

Examples:  

• Child Care 

Licensing 

• Health Care 

Licensing 

• Waste 

Management 

• Health Permits 

• Food Handler 

Certification 

• Food 

Establishments 

• Hotel/Motel 

• Mobile Home/RV 

Parks 

• Pools & Spas 

• Tattoo/Piercing 

• Vector Control 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Examples: 

• Child Care 

• Health Permits 

• Food Handler 

Certification 

• Food Establishments 

• Hotel/Motel 

• Mobile Home/RV 

Parks 

• Pools & Spas 

• Tattoo/Piercing 

• Vector Control 
 
 
 

Examples: 

• Child Care 

• Health Permits 

• Food Handler 

Certification 

• Food 

Establishments 

• Hotel/Motel 

• Mobile Home/RV 

Parks 

• Pools & Spas 

• Tattoo/Piercing 

• Vector Control 
 

Are partners offering any 

programs? 



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

11 

State of Nevada 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and 
organization if different 
than state government 
(such as contractors) 

County 

Please list all 
programs/services currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government 

(such as contractors) 

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and list 
organization 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Maternal, Child, 

and Family 

Health 

Expertise 

(knowledge, skills, 

education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff 

and/or other 

resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully

Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient

Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No

Services

Examples:  

• Family Planning

• Sexually

Transmitted

Disease Testing

• Well Child Visits

• Immunizations

Examples:  

• Family Planning

• Sexually Transmitted

Disease Testing

• Well Child Visits 

• Immunizations 

Examples:  

• Family Planning

• Sexually

Transmitted

Disease Testing

• Well Child Visits 

• Immunizations 

Are partners offering any 

programs? 



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

12 

State of Nevada 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and 
organization if different 
than state government 
(such as contractors) 

County 

Please list all 
programs/services currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government 

(such as contractors) 

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all 
programs/services 

currently offered and list 
organization 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Access to and 

Linkage with 

Clinical Care 

Expertise 

(knowledge, skills, 

education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff 

and/or other 

resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully

Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient

Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No

Services

Examples:  

• Medicaid

Navigators

Examples: 

• Community Health

Workers 

Examples: 

• Community

Health Workers

Examples: 

• Resource Directories

• Community Health

Workers 

This concludes the Foundational Areas Assessment. Foundational Capabilities Assessment begins 

on the following page.  



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

13 

State 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than state 
government (such as 

contractors)

County 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government (such as 

contractors)

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all public 

health infrastructure 

currently offered by 

regional health 

departments/districts 

and list organizations 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Assessment & 

Surveillance 

Expertise (knowledge, 

skills, education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff and/or 

other resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No Services

Examples:  

• State Health

Needs

Assessment

• What state data

collection systems

are currently in

place?

Examples: 

• Has the County

conducted a

Community Health 

Assessment?

• What epi system

and data

collection

infrastructure is

currently in place?

Examples: 

• Community

Prevention Plan 

• Hospital

Community Needs

Assessments

• Other Data

Collection Systems

Examples:  

• Community

Prevention Plan 

• Hospital Community

Needs Assessments

Community 

Partnership & 

Development 

Expertise (knowledge, 

skills, education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff and/or 

other resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

Examples:  

• State-led

Multidisciplinary

Teams (MDTs)

• State-led Task

Force

Examples:  

• Behavioral Health

Task Force

• Quad-County

Healthcare

Coalition 

• Any other

collaborations to

include? 

Examples:  

• Behavioral Health

Task Force

• Quad-County

Healthcare Coalition 

• Any other

collaborations to

include? 



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

14 

State 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than state 
government (such as 

contractors)

County 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government (such as 

contractors)

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all public 

health infrastructure 

currently offered by 

regional health 

departments/districts 

and list organizations 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No Services

Equity 

Expertise (knowledge, 

skills, education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff and/or 

other resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No Services

Does the state have an 
equity committee or 
equity policy or plan? 

Does the county have 

an equity committee or 

equity policy or plan?  

Does the Health 

Department/District 

have an equity 

committee or equity 

policy or plan? 

Are there any 

partners/groups focusing 

on individuals 

experiencing health 

inequities? 



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

15 

State 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than state 
government (such as 

contractors)

County 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government (such as 

contractors)

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all public 

health infrastructure 

currently offered by 

regional health 

departments/districts 

and list organizations 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Organizational 

Competencies 

Expertise (knowledge, 

skills, education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff and/or 

other resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No Services

Examples:  

• Public Health

Workforce

Development Plan

Examples:  

• Public Health

Workforce

Development Plan

Examples:  

• Public Health

Workforce

Development Plan 

Policy Development 

& Support 

Expertise (knowledge, 

skills, education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff and/or 

other resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Examples:  

• Does the state

have a policy

committee or a

public health

policy/government

relations process?

Examples:  

• Does the county

have a policy

committee or a

public health

policy/government

relations process?

Examples:  

• Does the health

department or

district have a

policy committee

or a public health

policy/government

relations process?



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

16 

State 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than state 
government (such as 

contractors)

County 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government (such as 

contractors)

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all public 

health infrastructure 

currently offered by 

regional health 

departments/districts 

and list organizations 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No Services

Accountability & 

Performance 

Management 

Expertise (knowledge, 

skills, education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff and/or 

other resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No Services

Examples:  

• Quality

Improvement Plan

• PHAB

Accreditation

• Identified

Performance

Measures

Examples:  

• Quality

Improvement Plan

• Identified

Performance

Measures

Examples:  

• Quality

Improvement Plan

• PHAB Accreditation 

• Identified

Performance

Measures



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

17 

State 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than state 
government (such as 

contractors)

County 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government (such as 

contractors)

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all public 

health infrastructure 

currently offered by 

regional health 

departments/districts 

and list organizations 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Emergency 

Preparedness & 

Response 

Expertise (knowledge, 

skills, education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff and/or 

other resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No Services

Examples:  

• Public Health

Preparedness

Programs

• Public Health

Emergency

Operations Plans

(i.e. PODs)

• MRC/ESAR-VHP

Volunteers

Examples:  

• Public Health

Preparedness

Programs 

• Public Health

Emergency

Operations Plans

(i.e. PODs)

• MRC/ESAR-VHP

Volunteers

Examples:  

• Public Health

Preparedness

Programs 

• Public Health

Emergency

Operations Plans

(i.e. PODs)

• MRC/ESAR-VHP

Volunteers

Communications 

Expertise (knowledge, 

skills, education, and 

experience) 

☐ Absent

☐ Basic

☐ Proficient

☐ Expert

Capacity (staff and/or 

other resources, 

materials, and 

supplies to 

implement) 

☐ Absent

☐Minimal 

☐Moderate

☐ Full 

Examples: 

• Public Information

Officer

(designated for

public health)

• Language Services

• Social Media

Outlets

• Website

Examples: 

• Public Information

Officer

(designated for

public health)

• Language Services

• Social Media

Outlets 

• Website

Examples: 

• Public Information

Officer (designated

for public health)

• Language Services

• Social Media

Outlets 

• Website



NACO – County FPHS Baseline Assessment Tool 

18 

This concludes the FPHS Areas and Capabilities Assessment. 

Behavioral Health 

While behavioral health is not recognized as a foundational area by the Public Health Accreditation 

Board, it is a critical area of the health infrastructure landscape. As such, we are collecting data on 

resources available at the county, state, and partner level surrounding behavioral health. Ratings by 

program area and capability will not be utilized. Instead, please list programs, services, expertise, and 

capacity available by providing entity: county, state, and non-profit/private community partner.   

State Programs 

Please list all programs/services currently 
offered and organization if different than 

state government 
(such as contractors)

County Programs 

Please list all programs/services currently offered 
and organization if different than county 

government 
(such as contractors)

Nonprofit/Private 

Partners/School-Based 

Services/Community Specific 

Services 
Please list all programs/services currently 

offered and list organization

Examples:  

• Outpatient Services

Examples: 

• Case Managers

• Beh. Health Peace Officer

• FASTT

• MOST 

Examples: 

• ACT

• CCBHC

• Crisis Stabilization

• Primary Prevention

• Outpatient Treatment

State 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than state 
government (such as 

contractors)

County 

Infrastructure 
Please list all public health 

infrastructure currently 
offered and organization if 

different than county 
government (such as 

contractors)

Regional Health 

Department/District 

Please list all public 

health infrastructure 

currently offered by 

regional health 

departments/districts 

and list organizations 

Community Supported 

Services (including 

Tribal, schools, non-

profit, private, and 

others) 

Please list all 

programs/services 

currently offered and list 

organization 

Program 

Implementation 

☐ Fully Implemented/

Meets Demand

☐ Sufficient Services

☐ Some Services

☐Minimal Services

☐ Lacking/No Services



Foundational Public Health 
Services (FPHS) and Public 
Health Modernization 
Background Report  

November 30, 2021 

Prepared by Susan Tilgner for the Public Health National Center 
for Innovations at the Public Health Accreditation Board and 
the Funders’ Forum 



Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

Introduction 
In 2013, the Public Health Leadership Forum, a project led by RESOLVE and funded by the Robert Wood 
Johnson Foundation (RWJF) convened a group of public health stakeholders to explore a 
recommendation from the Institute of Medicine (IOM) – to define a minimum package of public health 
capabilities and programs that no jurisdiction can be without.  The result was the Foundational Public 
Health Services (FPHS), now housed at the Public Health National Center for Innovations (PHNCI) at the 
Public Health Accreditation Board (PHAB).   

As the nation begins to assess how to rebuild in the post COVID-19 pandemic period, the concept of 
FPHS, in particular Foundational Capabilities, has gained new salience.  Congress and the Administration 
have used the Foundational Capabilities framework to target and consider new investments in federal, 
Tribal, territorial, state, and local public health.   

This paper reviews the original FPHS concept, summarizes how some states have already used the FPHS 
framework to spur local modernization efforts, describes the potential federal funding support for a 
nationally driven modernization effort, and suggests areas where the FPHS framework may need to be 
adapted in light of the lessons learned during the pandemic.   

Current Definitions and Language for the FPHS 
FPHS describes the vital role and unique responsibilities of governmental public health.  The framework 
consists of three components:  Foundational Capabilities (FCs), Foundational Areas (FAs), and the 
additional services that health departments provide which vary based on their communities’ needs.   

Foundational Capabilities (FCs) are the cross-cutting skills and capacities needed to support basic public 
health protections that are key to ensuring the community’s health and achieving equitable health 
outcomes. FCs are built and sustained by the public health workforce – people with various sets of 
cross-cutting skills and competencies.  

Foundational Areas (FAs) are those basic public health, topic-specific programs aimed at improving the 
health of the community affected by certain diseases or public health threats.   

These 7 Foundational Capabilities are the infrastructure necessary to support 
Foundational Areas:   

• Assessment / Surveillance
• Emergency Preparedness and Response
• Policy Development & Support
• Communications
• Community Partnership Development
• Organizational Administrative Competencies
• Accountability / Performance Management

FPHS is the suite of skills, programs, and activities that must be available in health 
departments everywhere for the public health system to work anywhere. 



Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

To provide a visual demonstration of the FPHS, a graphic was created in YEAR to depict the Foundational 
Capabilities and Foundation Areas (Figure 1).  

Figure 1:  Foundational Public Health Services (FPHS) (The complete definitions for each of the FCs and 
FAs can be found in Appendix A and here)  

About the Framework 
The nationally developed FPHS framework reflects the consensus of public health leaders across the 
country for a minimum package of services that no jurisdiction should be without.  The framework 
focuses on what services need to be delivered by governmental public health, while leaving room for 
individual communities to decide how to deliver them. 

As with any framework, the real value is how it works and is used in practice.   The FPHS framework is 
already “field tested” and showing results to transform public health practice.  Tools have been 

These 5 Foundational Areas are: 
• Preventing the spread of Communicable Disease
• Ensuring safe food, air, and water quality through Environmental Health
• Supporting Maternal, Child and Family Health
• Improving Access to and Linkage with clinical care services
• Preventing Chronic Disease and Injury

https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/FPHS-Factsheet-November-2018.pdf


Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

developed and implemented to assess gaps and estimate costs.  Some states have passed legislation to 
fund and implement FPHS as their path to modernizing today’s public health system (See the Resources 
Section of this paper for some of the states’ work with FPHS).  

Today’s Public Health System COVID-19 severely stressed the public health system in that every local, 
state, and federal public health entity was simultaneously called to respond.  Significant inadequacies of 
the public health system were exposed, leading to lives lost, economic instability, and exacerbating 
inequities for historically excluded populations.  Recovery is being significantly and unnecessarily slowed 
due to these system inadequacies.  And, the already diminished public health workforce has been 
further compromised by the pandemic.    

Even before COVID-19, the landmark IOM report, The Future of Public Health in 1988, chronicled a 
system in disarray.  Today we are still living with an outdated public health infrastructure that has been 
chronically underfunded.  And when it is funded, it usually comes in waves of reacting to events or 
emergencies or piecemealed to a single disease or issue.   

With each public health crisis over the last several decades, whether it 
was Anthrax attacks, H1N1, Ebola, Zika, or now the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the federal government has pumped emergency funds into the public 
health system, trying to make up for past underfunding.  But core 
elements of a public health system can’t be surged overnight, and even 
when emergency funds were appropriated, they often came after the 
crisis was over.  Once the crisis passed, funding was often cut back again, 
with a return to focus on specific programs or diseases rather than core 
capacities.  This boom-and-bust approach leaves us vulnerable to new 
and emerging public health issues.   

Public Health Modernization 
New strategies and investments are needed to effectively address these 
chronic system inadequacies.  There is an urgency to public health 
modernization and for all in public health to move forward in a similar 
direction.  COVID-19 provides an unprecedented opportunity to create a 
stronger public health system.  FPHS is a practical framework that is 
already being widely used to modernize public health. 

Indeed, federal policy makers have come to recognize the FPHS framework, especially the Foundational 
Capabilities, as a way to describe how best to rebuild our public health system based on learnings from 
the pandemic.   

During the pandemic, we have seen unprecedented levels of investment in the public health system – to 
close gaps in existing capacity and to ramp up specific activities needed to respond (e.g., testing and 
contact tracing, vaccine distribution).  But built into those investments, especially beginning with the 
American Rescue Plan Act passed in early 2021, the Administration and Congress have allocated funding 
toward modernization of the public health system, with a particular focus on workforce and 
infrastructure – the true building blocks of the Foundational Capabilities in FPHS.   

“But core elements of a 
public health system can’t 
be surged overnight, and 

even when emergency 
funds were appropriated, 
they often came after the 

crisis was over.” 

“COVID-19 provides an 
unprecedented 

opportunity to create a 
stronger public health 

system.” 



Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

Specific examples of this kind of funding include: 
• $7.6 billion in the American Rescue Plan Act to rebuild the public health workforce at the state

and local levels.  $3 billion of those funds have been held back by the Centers for Disease
Control and Prevention (CDC) to permit longer-term investments in the public health workforce
in the post-pandemic period.

• The pending budget reconciliation bill (often referred to as the Build Back Better Act) has $7
billion allocated over five years for public health infrastructure improvements, with over $5.5
billion of that reserved for state and local modernization efforts.  The legislation encourages
accreditation as an end point for these investments and defines public health infrastructure in a
similar way to the Foundational Capabilities as follows:

o DEFINITION – In this section, the term “core public health infrastructure” includes –
 (1) health equity activities;
 (2) workforce capacity and competency;
 (3) all hazards public health preparedness;
 (4) testing capacity, including test platforms, mobile testing units, and

personnel;
 (5) health information, health information systems, and health information

analysis (including data analytics);
 (6) epidemiology and disease surveillance;
 (7) contact tracing;
 (8) policy and communications;
 (9) financing;
 (10) community partnership development; and
 (11) relevant components of organizational capacities.

This level of investment – possibly $10 billion over the next five years – 
makes the potential for public health modernization more real.  While 
offering a public health infrastructure framework, it leaves a good deal of 
flexibility for how to invest these dollars based on local assessment of 
modernization needs.  FPHS, and accreditation as a quality improvement 
and accountability process, can create consistency in approaches across 
the country without mandating specific activities.   

The Value of FPHS in Modernization  
FPHS provides the needed framework for investment that will help the United States avoid and/or 
lessen the disruption of future pandemics and epidemics and to continue to address chronic issues and 
advance health equity.   

The framework provides: 
• A common language and national understanding of the vital role and unique

responsibilities of governmental public health.
• The ability to assess gaps in capacity for which costs can be estimated.
• Standardization to assure continuity across all states, but with the flexibility for

states to adapt to specific states’ needs; and
• Alignment with national initiatives, such as public health accreditation.

“While offering a public 
health infrastructure 
framework, it [FPHS] 
leaves a good deal of 

flexibility for how to invest 
these dollars based on 

local assessment of 
modernization needs.”   



Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

Accreditation and FPHS  
The conversation about modernization and FPHS requires consideration of how it aligns with other 
critical public health modernization efforts, in particular accreditation by the Public Health Accreditation 
Board (PHAB).   

The structural framework for the PHAB Standards and Measures are the 10 Essential Public Health 
Services. FPHS describes the governmental role.  Both frameworks were developed by the field, for the 
field and describe core elements of public health practice.  The alignment of PHAB and FPHS can be 
found here.  

PHAB is making its alignment with FPHS more visible in Version 2022 of the PHAB Standards and 
Measures for accreditation, due for release in summer 2022.  To promote accountability, health 
departments should possess key capabilities found in FPHS.  As such, Version 2022 will designate and 
emphasize which measures align with Foundational Capabilities.  

FPHS in Public Health Practice 
Several states across the country have already embraced FPHS to transform or modernize their 
governmental public health systems. These states are at various stages of adopting and implementing 
FPHS framework but are all working towards transforming their governmental public health system.   

Public Health in the 21st Century – 21C Project 
Since 2016, the Public Health National Center for Innovations (PHNCI) at PHAB has been leading Public 
Health in the 21st Century (the 21C Project), a learning community of 11 states who are in various stages 
of adopting the FPHS framework to modernize governmental public health.  The 21C states are 
described here. Some examples of their work are highlighted below:   

Assessment - Washington, Oregon, and Ohio 
Key to the FPHS framework is the ability to assess the current capacity and coverage of the public 
health system to deliver the FPHS, where the gaps are to achieving full FPHS implementation, and 
what it will cost to fill those gaps.   

Washington, Oregon, and Ohio each developed a tool that identifies gaps and estimates costs for each 
of the Foundational Capabilities and Areas.  Each tool includes state-specific functional definitions that 
describe the core roles of governmental public health to provide FPHS.  Washington and Oregon’s 
tools are particularly robust, drilling down to assess specific activities within each of the foundational 
areas and capabilities.  All three tools break down FPHS capacity and cost by geography and size of 
populations served.  Ohio’s recent assessment can be found here. 

Lessons Learned: 
• The tools in all 3 states effectively identified capacity, gaps, and cost estimations and can

be easily modified to be used in any state.
• Results showed areas of strength within the governmental public health system, but there

were gaps in capacity and expertise for each Foundational Capability and Area.
• No FPHS is fully implemented across all jurisdictions and the gaps are not uniform.
• There is no “one size fits all” when allocating resources to close FPHS gaps

https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/EPHS-English.pdf
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/EPHS-English.pdf
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/Aligning-Accreditation-and-the-Foundational-Public-Health-Capabilities-November-2018.pdf
https://phnci.org/national-frameworks/21c-learning-community
https://b45c268b-835b-4048-8aa5-46203cd441bb.filesusr.com/ugd/7ddbf5_f7bcc1c3b6a446f2bdfda6c051c78b99.pdf


Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

Legislative Funding & Support – Washington and Oregon 
The FPHS assessments in Washington and Oregon led to comprehensive transformation 
initiatives with legislative support and start-up funding.   

Oregon’s legislature codified FPHS in statute as the framework for governmental public 
health in 2015 and 2017.  Funding has been part of their modernization legislation.  The FPHS 
framework adapted to the COVID-19 surge.  Inequities were apparent and trusted sources or 
connection points in communities were needed.  Funds were directed to community-based 
organizations for COVID-19 work within the existing FPHS framework.  In the current 
biennium, $60 million has been approved and invested towards these efforts. Oregon’s 
modernization work can be found here.  

Washington’s legislature defined the governmental public health system, FPHS, and resource 
distribution processes in statute.  The state legislature invested in FPHS over the past two 
biennia, addressing chronic underfunding and the resulting detrimental effects on 
communities and the state’s economy.  After the initial 2017-2019 investment, Washington 
documented a small but measurable increase in the system’s capacity to deliver FPHS and 
indicators of better health.  In Washington’s current biennium, the $28 million FPHS 
investment and short-term COVID funding have increased system capacity.  However, most 
resources shifted to the pandemic at the expense of other core public health services.  Most 
recently, the Washington State Legislature approved the 2021-2023 biennial budget to 
provide $147 million for FPHS in the 2021-2023 biennium, and $148 million per year ongoing 
starting in FY2024.  Washington’s latest report can be found here.   

Structuring the System Differently 
Public Health Modernization requires a departure from traditional practices, changes in the way 
we work and how we are organized.   

New Service Delivery Model – Washington  
With its initial FPHS investment in the 2017-2019 biennium, Washington conducted service 
delivery Demonstration Projects.  The FPHS assessment created a new source of information to 
rethink service delivery.  Projects were chosen to test new service delivery models based on gaps 
identified in the FPHS assessment.  The projects were:   

• Establishing a networked TB response team for all local health jurisdictions housed at the
Seattle-King County Health District

• Building regional assessment capability by providing trained epidemiologists at the
Spokane Regional Health District

• Building Provider Resources websites for communicable disease control tailored to a local
health departments’ unique provider and community needs.  Led by the Tacoma-Pierce
County Health District who had already been doing this work.

These Projects demonstrate the value of new service delivery models to meet FPHS across 
governmental public health jurisdictions.  The vision of doing work differently was successfully 
achieved with lessons to share - to bring various agencies working together along a continuum, 
striking the right balance between centralized services with services that are also responsive to 
local variation in geography, population, economics, and culture.  (Results of Washington’s 

https://www.oregon.gov/oha/ph/About/TaskForce/Documents/public_health_modernization_manual.pdf
https://app.leg.wa.gov/ReportsToTheLegislature/Home/GetPDF?fileName=Foundational%20Public%20Health%20Services%20Report_2020%20%28002%29_19909975-f301-4713-8c2f-e8f4f341b110.pdf
https://wsalpho.app.box.com/s/wpii4rn5ojfd76lsknmoevix16kfg4o3


Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

The Future of the FPHS Framework  
States have chosen the FPHS framework for modernization and transformation efforts, and federal 
legislation includes language around the Foundational Capabilities. It’s more important than ever, 
especially considering the pandemic experience, that the FPHS framework reflects the needs of the field 
at all levels.  Some key areas under discussion to strengthen the framework include:   

Equity 
As part of modernization, public health must be a leader in advancing equity in every community.  The 
10 Essential Public Health Services, which were revised in 2020, puts equity front and center across all 
10 services.: 

PHAB has also been intentional about emphasizing the importance of equity in Version 2022 of the 
Standards and Measures.  Considerations related to equity will now be highlighted in every domain.  
And, addressing Social Determinants of Health (SDOH) are considered a necessary pathway to achieve 
equity.  

In the FPHS framework, Health Equity is currently a function under the Organizational Administrative 
Competencies Capability, but has not been designated as its own separate Capability or Area.  Colorado 
added Health Equity and SDOH as a Foundational Capability, instead of a function within organizational 
competencies in their needs assessment. Some states, like Missouri, have modified the FPHS framework 

Equity is defined as a fair and just opportunity for all to achieve good health and 
well-being. This requires removing obstacles to health such as poverty and 

discrimination and their consequences, including powerlessness and lack of access 
to good jobs with fair pay, quality education and housing, safe environments, and 
healthcare. It also requires attention to health inequities, which are differences in 
population health status and mortality rates that are systemic, patterned, unjust, 

and actionable, as opposed to random or caused by those who become ill. 

Social determinants of health are the conditions in the environments where people 
are born, live, learn, work, play, worship, and age that affect a wide range of 

health, functioning, and quality-of-life outcomes and risks. 

Sharing Public Health Services  
Sharing public health services is not new and there is a long history of informal sharing or using 
contractual agreements.   But new and diverse service delivery models like those tested in 
Washington will be needed to effectively and efficiently allocate the expected resources for 
successful FPHS implementation. States are already moving in this direction.   

• In a 2020 Public Health System Review, Indiana recommends a district-level (regional)
mechanism to enable resource sharing among local health departments to assure
services and skill sets are available across the state. The system review can be found
here.

• A 2021 Missouri report for Strengthening Public Health Infrastructure recommends
creating “Regional Coordinating Bodies” to incentivize and support formal sharing of
staffing and services among smaller health departments to build foundational
capabilities. The report can be found here.

https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/EPHS-English.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/socialdeterminants/index.htm
http://www.calpho.org/uploads/6/8/7/2/68728279/final_colorado_cphs_needs_assessment_executive_summary_2020_01.pdf
https://www.rmff.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/indiana-public-health-system-review-fnl-web3.pdf
https://hsrc.himmelfarb.gwu.edu/sphhs_policy_briefs/61/


Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

to elevate health equity (and SDOH), making it visible across all Capabilities and Areas. An overview of 
Missouri’s model can be viewed here.  

Congress, in both the reconciliation bill and the Senate Public Health Infrastructure Saves Lives Act, 
added equity as part of the core public health infrastructure.  Similarly, several states have adapted the 
FPHS framework to include equity in their modernization efforts.   

Emergency Preparedness and Response Capability  
The pandemic brings up questions about whether emergency preparedness should be a Foundational 
Area, instead of a Capability as it is now.  Public health can’t do emergency preparedness without the 
other capabilities, however treating it as a separate capability may give the impression that 
preparedness is not dependent on the rest of what public health has to offer.   

State-Specific Models – Definitions States have “tweaked” the FPHS model to meet local needs and 
requirements and also changed their graphic interpretation along with some definitions.  However, 
these tweaks are not a dismissal of the national framework.  States continue to adopt or embrace FPHS 
and the concept of “minimum package of services” to shape their modernization initiatives and relay or 
affirm the importance of tying back to a national framework.  

FPHS, especially the Foundational Capabilities, has driven public health infrastructure definitions in 
legislation, though overlapping with Foundational Areas and the consistent addition of equity.  There 
seems to be a sense that even if the FPHS framework has been tweaked, those working in the weeds of 
public health all “know what we mean”.  There is an opportunity here to better define “what we all 
mean” for our funders and partners going forward.   

Summary  
FPHS can guide investment in prevention efforts that will help the United States avoid and/or lessen the 
disruption of future pandemics and epidemics and focus on chronic issues as well as advance equity.  
FPHS is being widely adopted and embraced as a framework for public health modernization in many 
states.  There is discussion about the value of more clearly emphasizing equity and social determinants 
of health in the framework, and whether some components are a capability or a program.  Some states 
have tweaked the visual graphic and/or some of the definitions.  But despite these discussion points and 
adaptations, there continues to be strong support that the FPHS framework represents the “minimum 
package of public health capabilities and programs that no jurisdiction can be without.”  There is 
momentum with this framework and a growing list of lessons learned and best practices from states 
who are using it.  Great challenges came with the COVID-19 pandemic, but now we have a singular 
opportunity to build a stronger local and state public health system.  With a potential unprecedented 
infrastructure and workforce investment over the next five years, this is a great opportunity to keep 
moving forward and build on the FPHS work. 

https://clphs.health.mo.gov/lphs/pdf/fphs-overview.pdf


Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

Resources / References 
Foundational Public Health Services Fact Sheet.  Public Health National Center for Innovations (PHNCI).  
November 2018.  FPHS-Factsheet-November-2018.pdf (phnci.org) 

FPHS Planning Guide:  Using Foundational Public Health Services to Transform Public Health.  Public 
Health National Center for Innovation (PHNCI).  January 2019.  FPHS-Planning-Guide-Using-
Foundational-Public-Health-Services-to-Transform-Public-Health.pdf (phnci.org) (this guide includes 
specific definitions for each of the FC’s and FA’s) 

21st Century Learning Community States.  Public Health National Center for Innovation (PHNCI).  2021. 
21C Learning Community | PHNCI (this document lists each of the 21C states) 

Aligning Accreditation and the Foundational Public Health Capabilities. Public Health National Center for 
Innovations.  November 2018.  Aligning-Accreditation-and-the-Foundational-Public-Health-Capabilities-
November-2018.pdf (phnci.org) 

The Ten Essential Public Health Services.  Public Health National Center for Innovations (PHNCI).  
Created 2020.  EPHS-English.pdf (phnci.org) 

Healthy People 2030. Social Determinants of Health. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 
Accessed December 1, 2021. https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/social-
determinants-health    

Colorado  
Colorado Public Health System Transformation Core Public Health Services Needs Assessment Report.  
Prepared by Habile Consulting LLC.  January 2020. 
final_colorado_cphs_needs_assessment_executive_summary_2020_01.pdf (calpho.org) 

Indiana 
Indiana Public Health System Review. IU Richard M. Fairbanks School of Public Health.  December 2020.  
indiana-public-health-system-review-fnl-web3.pdf (rmff.org) 

Kansas 
Kansas Foundational Public Health Services Model Development.  Kansas Health Institutes.  August 
2017.  Kansas Foundational Public Health Services Model Development.indd (khi.org) 

Kansas Foundational Public Health Services Capacity Assessment.  Kansas Health Institute.  August 2017.  
Kansas FPHS Capacity Assessment (khi.org) 

State-By-State Comparison of Foundational Public Health Services.  Technical Report.  Prepared for the 
Public Health Systems Group.  Kansas Health Institute.  January 2017.  FPHS-State-by-State-
Comparison.pdf (kalhd.org) 

Massachusetts 
Blueprint for Public Health Excellence:  Recommendations for Improved Effectiveness and Efficiency of 
Local Public Health Protections.  Report of the Special Commission on Local and Regional Public Health.  
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  June 2019.  download (mass.gov) 

https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/FPHS-Factsheet-November-2018.pdf
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/FPHS-Planning-Guide-Using-Foundational-Public-Health-Services-to-Transform-Public-Health.pdf
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/FPHS-Planning-Guide-Using-Foundational-Public-Health-Services-to-Transform-Public-Health.pdf
https://phnci.org/national-frameworks/21c-learning-community
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/Aligning-Accreditation-and-the-Foundational-Public-Health-Capabilities-November-2018.pdf
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/Aligning-Accreditation-and-the-Foundational-Public-Health-Capabilities-November-2018.pdf
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/EPHS-English.pdf
https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/social-determinants-health
https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/social-determinants-health
http://www.calpho.org/uploads/6/8/7/2/68728279/final_colorado_cphs_needs_assessment_executive_summary_2020_01.pdf
https://www.rmff.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/indiana-public-health-system-review-fnl-web3.pdf
https://www.khi.org/assets/uploads/news/14778/kansas-fphs-model-development.pdf
https://www.khi.org/assets/uploads/news/14773/ks_fphs_capacity_assessment.pdf
https://www.kalhd.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/FPHS-State-by-State-Comparison.pdf
https://www.kalhd.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/FPHS-State-by-State-Comparison.pdf
https://www.mass.gov/doc/blueprint-for-public-health-excellence-recommendations-for-improved-effectiveness-and/download?_ga=2.82918294.1699577990.1636466634-933899179.1636466634


 

 

 

Foundational Public Health Services and Public Health Modernization 

Minnesota 
A New Framework for Governmental Public Health in Minnesota.  Minnesota Department of Health.  
June 2019.  A new framework for governmental public health in Minnesota (state.mn.us) 

Missouri 
Acosta, Alexis; Benoit, Marie-Anais; Conway, Ciara; Hughes, Dora; Levi, Jeffrey; Markus, Anne; 
Regenstein, Marsha; Seyoum, Semret; Trott, Jennifer; and Van Bronkhorst, Hope, "Missouri’s Public 
Health Response to COVID-19: Key Findings and Recommendations for State Action and Investment" 
(2021). Health Policy and Management Issue Briefs.  Paper 61.  
https://hsrc.himmelfarb.gwu.edu/sphhs_policy_briefs/61/ 

Our Model:  Foundational Public Health Services.  #HealthierMO.   fphs-overview.pdf (mo.gov) 

HOME | HealthierMO.  Accessed November 2021.  (this report shows their FPHS graphic with Health 
Equity and SDOH visually called out across all FC’s and FA’s). 

Ohio 
Costing the FPHS in Ohio:  Analysis for FY2019. Final Report.  Prepared by Simone Singh, PhD for the 
Ohio Public Health Partnership (OPHP).  September 30, 2021.  Costing the FPHS in Ohio (filesusr.com) 
(this report describes the Ohio costing tool – a self-administered tool for local health departments with a 
User’s Guide, easily adaptable for use by other states). 
 
Oregon 
Public Health Modernization Manual:  Foundational capabilities and programs for public health in 
Oregon.  Oregon Health Authority, Public Health Division.  September 2017.  Public Health 
Modernization Manual, September 2017 (oregon.gov) 
 
Washington  
Washington State Department of Health.  FPHS: Progress Toward Full Funding and Implementation, 
Transformation, and Improved Health.  October 2020.  RCW 43.70.515(3).  GetPDF (wa.gov) 

Service Delivery Demonstration Projects Year 1 Evaluation:  Case Studies and Lessons Learned.  January 
2019.  Berk Consulting for the Washington State Association of Local Public Health Officials (WSALPHO) 
and the Washington State Department of Health (DOH).  2019 FPHS Shared Services Demonstration 
Projects Year 1 Evaluation.pdf | Powered by Box  

A Plan to Rebuild and Modernize Washington’s Public Health System. Washington State Department of 
Health.  WSALPHO.  Washington State Board of Health.  December 2016.  FPHS-
PublicHealthModernizationPlan2016.pdf (wa.gov) 

Appendix A: FPHS Factsheet  

https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/practice/schsac/workgroups/docs/201906StrengtheningANewFramework.pdf
https://hsrc.himmelfarb.gwu.edu/sphhs_policy_briefs/61/
https://clphs.health.mo.gov/lphs/pdf/fphs-overview.pdf
https://www.healthiermo.org/
https://b45c268b-835b-4048-8aa5-46203cd441bb.filesusr.com/ugd/7ddbf5_f7bcc1c3b6a446f2bdfda6c051c78b99.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/ph/About/TaskForce/Documents/public_health_modernization_manual.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/ph/About/TaskForce/Documents/public_health_modernization_manual.pdf
https://app.leg.wa.gov/ReportsToTheLegislature/Home/GetPDF?fileName=Foundational%20Public%20Health%20Services%20Report_2020%20%28002%29_19909975-f301-4713-8c2f-e8f4f341b110.pdf
https://wsalpho.app.box.com/s/wpii4rn5ojfd76lsknmoevix16kfg4o3
https://wsalpho.app.box.com/s/wpii4rn5ojfd76lsknmoevix16kfg4o3
https://www.doh.wa.gov/Portals/1/Documents/1200/FPHS-PublicHealthModernizationPlan2016.pdf
https://www.doh.wa.gov/Portals/1/Documents/1200/FPHS-PublicHealthModernizationPlan2016.pdf


Foundational Public Health Services

Overview 
Health departments provide public 
health protections in a number of 
areas, including: preventing the 
spread of communicable disease, 
ensuring food, air, and water quality 
are safe, supporting maternal and 
child health, improving access to 
clinical care services, and preventing 
chronic disease and injury. In 
addition, public health departments 
provide local protections and 
services unique to their community’s 
needs. 

The infrastructure needed to provide 
these protections strives to provide 
fair opportunities for all to be healthy 
and includes seven capabilities: 1) 
Assessment/Surveillance, 2) 
Emergency Preparedness and 
Response, 3) Policy Development 
and Support, 4) Communications, 5) 
Community Partnership 
Development, 6) Organizational 
Administrative Competencies and 7) 
Accountability/Performance 
Management. Practically put, health 
departments have to be ready 24/7 
to serve their communities. That 
requires access to a wide range of 
critical data sources, robust 
laboratory capacity, preparedness 
and policy planning capacity, and 
expert staff to leverage them in 
support of public health protections. 

Staff Contacts 
Jessica Solomon Fisher, MCP 
Chief Innovations Officer 
Phone: 703-778-4549 ext. 116 
E-mail: jfisher@phnci.org

Travis Parker Lee 
Program Specialist 
Phone: 703-778-4549 ext. 102 
E-mail: tlee@phnci.org

Social 
Stay up-to-date with PHNCI by 
visiting www.phnci.org, subscribing to 
our e-newsletter, and following 
@PHinnovates on Twitter. 

Public health infrastructure consists of the foundational capabilities, which are the 
cross-cutting skills and capacities needed to support basic public health protections 
and other programs and activities that are key to ensuring the community’s health and 
achieving equitable health outcomes.  

Public health programs, or foundational areas, are those basic public health, topic-
specific programs that are aimed at improving the health of the community affected 
by certain diseases or public health threats. Examples of these include, but are not 
limited to, chronic disease prevention, community disease control, environmental 
public health, and maternal, child, and family health. 

Local protections and services unique to a community’s needs are those determined to 
be of additional critical significance to a specific community’s health and are 
supported by the public health infrastructure and programs. This work is essential to a 
given community and cannot be visually depicted because it varies by jurisdiction. 

Public Health Infrastructure (Foundational Capabilities) 

Assessment/Surveillance 
❖ Ability to collect sufficient foundational data to develop and maintain electronic

information systems to guide public health planning and decision making at the
state and local level. Foundational data include Behavioral Risk Factor
Surveillance Survey (BRFSS), a youth survey (such as YRBS), and vital records,
including the personnel and software and hardware development that enable the
collection of foundational data.

❖ Ability to access, analyze, and use data from (at least) seven specific information
sources, including (1) U.S. Census data, (2) vital statistics, (3) notifiable conditions
data, (4) certain health care clinical and administrative data sets including available
hospital discharge, insurance claims data, and Electronic Health Records (EHRs),
(5) BRFSS, (6) nontraditional community and environmental health indicators,
such as housing, transportation, walkability/green space, agriculture, labor, and
education, and (7) local and state chart of accounts.

Page 1 of 4



❖ Ability to prioritize and respond to data requests, including vital records, and to translate data into information and
reports that are valid, statistically accurate, and accessible to the intended audiences.

❖ Ability to conduct a community and statewide health assessment and identify health priorities arising from that
assessment, including analysis of health disparities.

❖ Ability to access 24/7 laboratory resources capable of providing rapid detection.

Emergency Preparedness and Response 
❖ Ability and capacity to develop, exercise, and maintain preparedness and response strategies and plans, in accordance

with established guidelines, to address natural or other disasters and emergencies, including special protection of
vulnerable populations.

❖ Ability and capacity to lead the Emergency Support Function 8 – Public Health & Medical for the county, region,
jurisdiction, and state.

❖ Ability to activate the emergency response personnel and communications systems in the event of a public health crisis;
coordinate with federal, state, and local emergency managers and other first responders; and operate within, and as
necessary lead, the incident management system.

❖ Ability to maintain and execute a continuity of operations plan that includes a plan to access financial resources to
execute an emergency and recovery response.

❖ Ability to establish and promote basic, ongoing community readiness, resilience, and preparedness by enabling the public
to take necessary action before, during, or after a disaster.

❖ Ability to issue and enforce emergency health orders.
❖ Ability to be notified of and respond to events on a 24/7 basis.
❖ Ability to function as a Laboratory Response Network (LRN) Reference laboratory for biological agents and as an LRN

chemical laboratory at a level designated by CDC.

Policy Development and Support 
❖ Ability to serve as a primary and expert resource for establishing, maintaining, and developing basic public health policy

recommendations that are evidence-based, grounded in law, and legally defendable. This ability includes researching,
analyzing, costing out, and articulating the impact of such policies and rules where appropriate, as well as the ability to
organize support for these policies and rules and place them before an entity with the legal authority to adopt them.

❖ Ability to effectively inform and influence polices being considered by other governmental and non-governmental
agencies within your jurisdiction that can improve the physical, environmental, social, and economic conditions affecting
health but are beyond the immediate scope or authority of the governmental public health department.

Communications 

❖ Ability to maintain ongoing relations with local and statewide media including the ability to write a press release, conduct
a press conference, and use electronic communication tools to interact with the media.

❖ Ability to write and implement a routine communication plan that articulates the health department’s mission, value, role,
and responsibilities in its community, and support department and community leadership in communicating these
messages.

❖ Ability to develop and implement a risk communication strategy, in accordance with Public Health Accreditation Board
Standards, to increase visibility of a specific public health issue and communicate risk. This includes the ability to provide
information on health risks and associated behaviors.

❖ Ability to transmit and receive routine communications to and from the public in an appropriate, timely, and accurate
manner, on a 24/7 basis.

❖ Ability to develop and implement a proactive health education/health prevention strategy (distinct from other risk
communications) that disseminates timely and accurate information to the public in culturally and linguistically appropriate
(i.e., 508 compliant) formats for the various communities served, including through the use of electronic communication
tools.

Community Partnership Development 
❖ Ability to create, convene, and sustain strategic, non-program specific relationships with key health-related organizations;

community groups or organizations representing populations experiencing health disparities or inequities; private
businesses and health care organizations; and relevant federal, tribal, state, and local government agencies and non-
elected officials.

❖ Ability to create, convene, and support strategic partnerships.
❖ Ability to maintain trust with and engage community residents at the grassroots level.
❖ Ability to strategically select and articulate governmental public health roles in programmatic and policy activities and

coordinate with these partners.

Page 2 of 4



❖ Ability to convene across governmental agencies, such as departments of transportation, aging, substance abuse/mental
health, education, planning and development, or others, to promote health, prevent disease, and protect residents of the
health department's geopolitical jurisdiction.

❖ Ability to engage members of the community in a community health improvement process that draws from community
health assessment data and establishes a plan for addressing priorities. The community health improvement plan can
serve as the basis for partnership development and coordination of effort and resources.

Organizational Administrative Competencies 
❖ Leadership and Governance: Ability to lead internal and external stakeholders to consensus, with movement to action, and

to serve as the public face of governmental public health in the department's jurisdiction. Ability to directly engage in
health policy development, discussion, and adoption with local, state, and national policymakers, and to define a strategic
direction of public health initiatives. Ability to engage with the appropriate governing entity about the department's public
health legal authorities and what new laws and policies might be needed.

❖ Health Equity: Ability to strategically coordinate health equity programming through a high level, strategic vision and/or
subject matter expertise which can lead and act as a resource to support such work across the department.

❖ Information Technology Services, including Privacy and Security: Ability to maintain and procure the hardware and
software needed to access electronic health information and to support the department's operations and analysis of
health data. Ability to support, use, and maintain communication technologies needed to interact with community
residents. Ability to have the proper systems in place to keep health and human resources data confidential.

❖ Human Resources Services: Ability to develop and maintain a competent workforce, including recruitment, retention, and
succession planning; training; and performance review and accountability.

❖ Financial Management, Contract, and Procurement Services, including Facilities and Operations: Ability to establish a
budgeting, auditing, billing, and financial system and chart of expense and revenue accounts in compliance with federal,
state, and local standards and policies. Ability to secure grants or other funding (governmental and not) and demonstrate
compliance with an audit required for the sources of funding utilized. Ability to procure, maintain, and manage safe
facilities and efficient operations.

❖ Legal Services and Analysis: Ability to access and appropriately use legal services in planning, implementing, and
enforcing, public health initiatives, including relevant administrative rules and due process.

Accountability/Performance Management 
❖ Quality Improvement: Ability to perform according to accepted business standards and to be accountable in accordance

with applicable relevant federal, state, and local laws and policies and to assure compliance with national and Public
Health Accreditation Board Standards. Ability to maintain a performance management system to monitor achievement of
organizational objectives. Ability to identify and use evidence-based and/or promising practices when implementing new
or revised processes, programs and/or interventions at the organizational level. Ability to maintain an organization-wide
culture of quality improvement using nationally recognized framework quality improvement tools and methods.

Public Health Programs (Foundational Areas) 

Communicable Disease Control 
❖ Provide timely, statewide, and locally relevant and accurate information to the health care system and community on

communicable diseases and their control.

❖ Identify statewide and local communicable disease control community partners and their capacities, develop and
implement a prioritized communicable disease control plan, and seek funding for high priority initiatives.

❖ Receive laboratory reports and other relevant data, conduct disease investigations, including contact tracing and
notification, and recognize, identify, and respond to communicable disease outbreaks for notifiable conditions in
accordance with local, national and state mandates and guidelines.

❖ Assure the availability of partner notification services for newly diagnosed cases of syphilis, gonorrhea, and HIV according
to CDC guidelines.

❖ Assure the appropriate treatment of individuals who have active tuberculosis, including the provision of directly-observed
therapy in accordance with local and state laws and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) guidelines.

❖ Support the recognition of outbreaks and other events of public health significance by assuring capacity for the
identification and characterization of the causative agents of disease and their origin, including those that are rare and
unusual, at the appropriate level.

❖ Coordinate and integrate categorically-funded communicable disease programs and services.

Page 3 of 4



Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention 
❖ Provide timely, statewide, and locally relevant and accurate information to the health care system and community on

chronic disease and injury prevention and control.

❖ Identify statewide and local chronic disease and injury prevention community partners and their capacities, develop and
implement a prioritized prevention plan, and seek funding for high priority initiatives.

❖ Reduce statewide and community rates of tobacco use through a program that conforms to standards set by state or local
laws and CDC’s Office on Smoking and Health, including activities to reduce youth initiation, increase cessation, and
reduce secondhand smoke exposure, as well as exposure to harmful substances.

❖ Work actively with statewide and community partners to increase statewide and community rates of healthy eating and
active living through a prioritized approach focusing on best and emerging practices aligned with national, state, and local
guidelines for healthy eating and active living.

❖ Coordinate and integrate categorically-funded chronic disease and injury prevention programs and services.

Environmental Public Health 
❖ Provide timely, statewide, and locally relevant and accurate information to the state, health care system, and community

on environmental public health issues and health impacts from common environmental or toxic exposures.

❖ Identify statewide and local community environmental public health partners and their capacities, develop and implement
a prioritized plan, and seek action funding for high priority initiatives.

❖ Conduct mandated environmental public health laboratory testing, inspections, and oversight to protect food, recreation
sites, and drinking water; manage liquid and solid waste streams safely; and, identify other public health hazards related to
environmental factors in accordance with federal, state, and local laws and regulations.

❖ Protect workers and the public from chemical and radiation hazards in accordance with federal, state, and local laws and
regulations

❖ Participate in broad land use planning and sustainable development to encourage decisions that promote positive public
health outcomes (e.g. housing and urban development, recreational facilities, and transportation systems) and resilient
communities.

❖ Coordinate and integrate categorically-funded environmental public health programs and services.

Maternal, Child, and Family Health 
❖ Provide timely, statewide, and locally relevant and accurate information to the health care system and community on

emerging and on-going maternal child health trends.

❖ Identify local maternal and child health community partners and their capacities; using life course expertise and an
understanding of health disparities, develop a prioritized prevention plan; and seek funding for high priority initiatives.

❖ Identify, disseminate, and promote emerging and evidence-based information about early interventions in the prenatal
and early childhood period that promote lifelong health and positive social-emotional development.

❖ Assure newborn screening as mandated by a state or local governing body including wraparound services, reporting back,
following up, and service engagement activities.

❖ Coordinate and integrate categorically funded maternal, child, and family health programs and services.

Access to and Linkage with Clinical Care 
❖ Provide timely, statewide, and locally relevant and accurate information to the health care system and community on

access and linkage to clinical care (including behavioral health), healthcare system access, quality, and cost.

❖ Inspect and license healthcare facilities, and license, monitor, and discipline healthcare providers, where applicable.
❖ In concert with national and statewide groups and local providers of health care, identify healthcare partners and

competencies, develop prioritized plans for increasing access to health homes and quality health care, and seek funding
for high priority policy initiatives.

❖ Coordinate and integrate categorically-funded clinical health care.

Public Health National Center for Innovations 
1600 Duke Street, Suite 200 | Alexandria, VA 22314 

703-778-4549 | info@phnci.org | @PHinnovates

Page 4 of 4



ESTABLISHING A 
BASELINE FOR LOCAL 

PUBLIC HEALTH 
INFRASTRUCTURE

AMY HYNE-SUTHERLAND, PHD
PUBLIC HEALTH COORDINATOR

NEVADA ASSOCIATION of COUNTIES 
(NACO)



• Amy Hyne-Sutherland, Public Health Coordinator, NACO

• Joe Lednicky, Economist III, UNR Extension

• Marlene Rebori, Professor and Community Development Specialist, UNR
Extension

INTRODUCTIONS



• Enables Improvement + Increased Efficiency
• Mapping the current state enables local government to understand assets, gaps, and

investments; New efforts can be planned/measured
• County-by-County approach enables regions to see where collaboration and shared

planning/resources make the most sense

• Data helps the County and local partners advocate for additional
resources at the State and National level
• Enables data-informed decision making and investment

• Seize opportunity to utilize new costing and assessment tools available
from national partners
• Public Health National Center for Innovation released tools in April 2023
• Assessment tool is adapted from national model, will enable benchmarking with like

counties

WHY DO WE CARE ABOUT ESTABLISHING 
A BASELINE?

“If you can’t measure it, you can’t improve it.” 



TOOLS TO SUPPORT ESTABLISHING A 
BASELINE

1. Lists of Mandated Public Health Services (Local/State)

2. State Community Health Needs Assessment(s): County
Profiles

3. Local Community Health Needs Assessments (if available)

4. Foundational Public Health Services Assessments



1. Lists of Mandated Public Health Services (Local/State)

Examples of Local Mandated 
Services

County Board of Health 
NRS 439.280, NRS 439.350-360

County Health Officer 
NRS 439.290 – 439.340, NRS 439.480-490

Health Districts 
NRS 439.361-410

Examples of State Mandated Services

State Board of Health

Epidemiology/Communicable Disease 
Reporting – NRS 441A.150-230

Sexually Transmitted Infections/Diseases 
Diagnosis and Treatment

• Program to Treat HIV or AIDS –
NRS.439.539, NRS 441A.334-336

Healthcare Facility Licensing



1. Lists of Mandated Public Health Services (Local/State)

County Assessments

In 2011, the Nevada Legislature passed Senate Bill 471 requiring rural counties to pay an 
assessment to the Health Division of the Department of Health and Human Services for the cost 
of providing various public health services

In FY2022, the Division of Public and Behavioral Health (DPBH) received $568,699.00 in County 
Participants Funds Revenue in DPBH Budget Account 3224 Community Health Services. In 
FY2023, DPBH will receive $553,330.00. 

SB471 also established a process for counties to submit a proposal to the Governor for the 
county to carry out the services that would otherwise be provided by the Division. 



2. State Community Health Needs Assessment(s)



3. Local Community Health Needs Assessments (if available)

A Quad-County 

Community 

Health Needs 

Assessment was 

conducted in 

2022



4. Foundational Public Health Services County-Level Assessments

Overview
FPHS were developed to represent a 
minimum package of public health services 
every community should have or have 
access to.

Benefits:
- Help set a foundation for what is needed

everywhere for public health to function

- Aligns with Public Health Accreditation
Board (PHAB) Standards & Measures

- Helps counties identify assets and
challenges, as well as opportunities to
collaborate regionally on shared areas of
need



As an assessment of public 
health infrastructure, 

the FPHS Assessment is 
different than a Community 
Health Needs Assessment.

It does not collect data on 
health outcomes or health 
drivers, rather it assesses a 
community’s ability to deliver 
essential public health 
services. 



Expertise (knowledge, skills, 

education, and experience)
• Absent

• Basic

• Proficient

• Expert

Capacity (staff and/or resources, 

materials, and supplies to 

implement)
• Absent

• Minimal

• Moderate

• Full

Level of Program Implementation
• Fully Implemented

• Sufficient Services

• Some Services

• Minimal Services

• Lacking/No Services





Washington State 
FPHS 2018



Oregon State FPHS 
2016



TIMELINE + NEXT STEPS

• Request a volunteer Commissioner Champion

• Kick-off Call / Q&A Session:  March 22nd @ 1PM (via
Zoom)

• Survey Distributed after Kick-Off Call

• 3 weeks to complete

• Agency can receive a single survey to distribute among
team and complete; do NOT submit until all in

• Confirm in-person 3hr Community Meeting to review
and verify results (April 23rd, Virginia City Location TBD,
9AM-12PM)



Amy Hyne-Sutherland, PhD

Public Health Coordinator

Nevada Association of Counties

Email: 
ahynesutherland@nvnaco.org

Direct: (775) 883-7867

QUESTIONS?



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration of a letter of interest for appointment of a planning commissioner to
serve a remaining term representing Precinct 5 (Highlands District) on the Storey County
Planning Commission.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I
[commissioner] motion to appoint Carlos Negrete to serve a remaining term representing
Precinct 5 (Highlands District) on the Storey County Planning Commission.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department: Planning     Contact Number: 775-847-1144

• Staff Summary: Pursuant to Storey County Code 2.12 and NRS, the term of a planning
commissioner is four years. The previous Precinct 5 planning commissioner resigned
from the position.  This position will replace the previous person and will serve the
remaining appointment time.  This position appointment will expire on December 31,
2024. At that time the commissioner may apply for re-appointment to the Precinct 5
position if desired.

• The planning commissioner vacancy was posted according to policy and NRS. One letter
of interest was received, and an interview was conducted. The applicant shows an
impressive background.  His interest in serving our community is appreciated. Based on
qualifications and experiences, staff recommends the appointment of Carlos Negrete to
fulfill the remaining time for the Precinct 5 planning commissioner position, expiring on
December 31, 2024.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

      12



• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



STOREY COUNTY PUBLIC NOTICE 

PLANNING COMMISSIONER VACANCY 
Precinct 5 (Highlands District) 

Position: Storey County Planning Commissioner to represent Precinct 5 (Highlands including Virginia 

City Highlands, Highlands Ranches, and Virginia Ranches). All interested parties must live within this 

voting district. The Planning Commission is an advisory body to the Board of County Commissioners. 

It is responsible for directing the short- and long-range growth and development of the county through 

maintenance and implementation of the county master plan, zoning ordinances, and other applicable 

land-use policies. It is composed of seven commissioners who serve two or more times per month on 

the body and who are compensated pursuant to NRS 278.040. Each commissioner is appointed by the 

Board of County Commissioners to serve at its pleasure for a four year term with possible re-

appointment following expiration of the term. 

Preferred Qualifications: A Planning Commissioner’s primary duty is to make land-use decisions that 

are consistent with the policies and plans, including the county master plan, formally adopted by the 

Board of County Commissioners. Therefore, the first priority of a Planning Commissioner is to have 

strong decision-making skills and develop knowledge of county policies and applicable Nevada 

Revised Statutes. It is not critical to have training in the fields of planning, architecture, law, civil 

engineering, geology, economics, or demography; these are skills that are available to the 

commissioner from staff, consultants, and applicants. The Planning Commissioner’s job is to weigh 

input given in staff reports and other professional reports, meeting testimonies, and other 

correspondence. A Planning Commissioner is like a judge who renders decisions based on the 

testimony of experts and others who appear as witnesses in a trial. Minimum qualifications of a 

Planning Commissioner include: a willingness and ability to research and report on issues, programs, 

and policies related to local land-use matters; ability to attend afternoon and night meetings on a 

regular basis; ability to sustain harmonious working relationships with commission members, the 

Board of County Commissioners, staff, residents, applicants, and the public; ability to act within the 

ethical standards set forth by NRS and NAC; and willingness to expand knowledge related to land-use 

planning. The new-appointee must successfully pass a criminal background investigation. 

Letter of Interest: All interested parties must submit a letter of interest showing qualifications and 

reason for applying for the appointment. An official job application is not necessary. 

Closing Date: Letters of interest (originals) must be received by the Storey County Human Resources 

Office, Storey County Courthouse, 26 South “B” Street (P.O. Box 176), Virginia City, NV 89440 by  

5:00 p.m., Tuesday, March 5, 2024. Please contact 775.847.0968 for further questions. 

Storey County is an Equal Opportunity Employer.                           Posting dates: 2/20/2024 – 3/5/2024 



Planning Commissioner Vacancies 
Storey County Precinct 5 Letter of Interest 

February 21, 2024 

Storey County Planning Commissioner, 

Please accept this Letter of Interest with regards to the Precinct 5 Highlands District 
position that is currently open for the above listed precinct.   

Throughout my career and personal life, I enjoyed being part of the businesses and 
communities that I’ve worked for and resided in, especially the VC Highlands 
community, and would take pride in helping to uphold and provide input to existing 
and new planning initiatives within our precinct.  Some of my experience has come 
from being involved with serving on several Board of Directors in both California and 
Nevada and the advancement of my career within the business community.  I’ve held 
several Board member positions that include Secretary, Treasurer, Vice President, and 
President. 

In my business career, I’ve moved up through several levels of responsibility, from my 
first position with Hewlett Packard in a manufacturing environment to my current 
position today as Vice President of Advanced Technologies.  Throughout my career, 
I’ve focused on communication from both a listening standpoint and offering my 
insights on recommendations to help maintain and meet our goals and objectives to 
grow the business.  One of my business career goals, as an entrepreneur,  was to own 
my own business for a realized goal of three years.  This experience provided me with 
a well rounded understanding of all aspects of communications and team work. 

It is with the above mentioned experience and interest that I would like to be 
considered for this vacancy so that I can assist the community that my wife and I 
reside in.  

Respectfully, 

Carlos Negrete 
360 Panamint Road 
VC Highlands, NV 89521 
(775) 221-0462



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 20 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the draft FY25 Storey County Capital
Improvement Plan.

• Recommended motion: I, [commissioner], move to approve the presented FY25 Storey
County Capital Improvement Plan.

• Prepared by: Honey Coughlin

Department: County Manager     Contact Number: 7755463183

• Staff Summary: In working with county staff and Comptroller McCain on the proposed
project list for FY25, and in taking a more targeted approach to ensure the completion of
these projects within the designated Fiscal Year, Fiscal Years 26-29 need to undergo
further consideration before presentation. Upon Board approval of the FY25 CIP, I will
then work with county staff, County Manager Osborne, and Comptroller McCain to
discuss the feasibility of the proposed projects for FYs 26-29. I anticipate an agenda item
to request a discussion only workshop for FYs 26-29 at the April 16 BOCC, after which I
look to submit FYs 26-29 for Board approval on May 7.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       13



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 1

Project
ID

Short Name Description
*See respective FY Addendum tabs for more detailed info.

Estimated
Total Project

Cost

County Fund Project
Location

FTE

FY25 PROJECTS
P3-01 Courthouse Fence Repair Mold and foundry $50,000 Capital VC 0.00
P4-07.1 Fairgrounds Upgrade Phase 2 of 2 Fairgrounds construction $468,500 Capital/Grant VC 0.22
P4-11.1 LW SR Center Phase 2 of 3 LW SR Center construction $3,661,000 Capital/Grant LW 1.30
P4-12.1 Fire Station 71 Phase 2 of 3 Fire Station 71 construction $3,000,000 Capital/Grant VC 1.50
P4-13 Fuel Tanks Construction - Replace double-lined fuel tanks at TRI/PW $300,000 Capital/Fire 75/25 TRI/VC 0.20
P4-15 MTCC Outdoor Reader Board Replace message board with reader board $50,000 Capital MT 0.00
P4-16 VCTC Center Phase 1 of 2 Design phase of pocket park deck at Black & Howell site $130,000 VCTC VC 0.11
P5-03 VC Parcourse Phase 1 of 3 Planning Phase $10,000 Capital VC 0.00
P5-04 LAN Network devices, LANs, storage, communications $120,000 Capital County 0.11
P5-05 National Park Services Swap Planning Phase $10,000 Facilities County 0.00
P5-07.1 MT Community Center Phase 2 of 4 Construction Phase of Metal Building $600,000 Capital MT 0.23
P5-07.2 MT Community Center Phase 3 of 4 Design/Plan Phase of Retrofit of Current Facility $50,000 Capital MT 0.00
P5-12.1 VCH Community Center Phase 2 of 2 Construction Phase - Retrofit current Fire Station 72 bays to Community Center $400,000 Capital VCH 0.23
P5-15 LW Dog Park Phase 1 of 3 Planning Phase $50,000 Capital LW 0.00
P5-16 TRI Sheriff Substation Phase 1 of 2 PAR/ER/Design/Begin Construct SO Substation retrofit at SC TRI  Complex $450,000 Capital/Grant TRI 0.23
P5-17 SMAC Elevator Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $125,000 Capital VC 0.11
P5-18 SMAC Seismic Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $18,500 Capital VC 0.00
P5-20.1 SC Complex Restrooms Phase 2 of 2 Construction Phase Retrofit current single stall to Public restrooms $225,000 Capital TRI 0.11
P5-28 Piper's Front Doors Replace Front Doors $50,000 Capital/Grant VC 0.00
P5-30 Swimming Pool Rehab Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $1,000,000 Capital VC 0.50
P5-31 IT Expansion Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $100,000 Capital VC 0.11
P5-31.1 IT Expansion Phase 2 of 2 Construction Phase $900,000 Capital VC 0.50
P5-32 Countywide Security Cameras and Key Fobs $110,000 Capital Countywide 0.11

FY25 Projects Total $11,878,000

FY25 ROADS
R4-43.1 Lousetown Road Rehab Phase 2 of 2 New base/repave Lousetown Rd $5,000,000 Roads VCH 2.60
R4-44.1 Traffic Signal Milan/Electric Phase 2 of 2 Construction/SC 15% cost, Tesla 85% $1,850,000 Capital TRI 1.30
R4-45.1 Six Mile Turnaround Phase 2 Construction Phase/Work with Lyon Co $300,000 Roads 6 Mile 0.20
R5-40 Countywide Road Projects Road rehabilitation per DOWL CIP (CIP should be complete soon) $2,000,000 Infra/Roads County 1.00



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 2

R5-43 LW Flood Mitigation Phase 1 of 2 Implement LW Flood Mitigation Study Alt. #3 Rank #2 $25,000 Roads LW 0.00
R5-45 Six Mile Flood Mitigation Phase 1 of 2 Implement Six Mile drainage study - culverts $170,000 Capital/Roads VC/6 Mile 0.11

FY25 Roads Total $9,345,000

FY25 WATER/SEWER
W5-52 Water Tank Upgrades Repair/seal water tanks $85,000 Infrastructure VC 0.00
W5-55 VCH Fire Water Cistern Phase 1 of 3 Replace (6)/Add (2) $200,000 Capital VCH 0.11
W5-56 Gold Hill Collection System Phase 1 of 2 PAR/ER/Design Phase $250,000 Capital/Grant GH 0.11
W5-57 Lead Siphon Replacement Phase 1 of 5 PAR/ER/Design Phase $1,150,000 Capital/Grant VC 0.50

FY25 Water/Sewer Total $1,685,000

FY25 EQUIPMENT
E5-61 Short-Frame Plow Peterbuilt heavy truck plow/sander to replace International $350,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-62 Peterbuilt Dump Truck To replace current Kenworth $475,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-63 Skippy Tractor John Deere Skippy loader box grader tractor $150,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-64 Light Plant w. Solar Portable light plant w. solar array $20,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-65 GMC Water/Sewer GMC 3/4 ton long-bed gas pickup with shell $70,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-66 GMC Buildings/Grounds GMC 4-door diesel w. utility bed - needs to pull weight $80,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-68 Staff Vehicle Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule/anticipated mileage $50,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-69 Compactors Bomag BT-35 walk-behind soils compactors (2) $10,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-70 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning our replaced vehicle. $80,000 Equipment Acqu. SO N/A
E5-71 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning our replaced vehicle. $80,000 Equipment Acqu. SO N/A
E5-72 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning our replaced vehicle. $80,000 Equipment Acqu. SO N/A
E5-73 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning our replaced vehicle. $80,000 Equipment Acqu. SO N/A
E5-74 Tesla Part of GSA with Tesla $88,000 Equipment Acqu. SO N/A
E5-75 RAM 5500 crew-cab utility To replace Street Sweeper $125,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-76 RAM 5500 crew-cab utility To replace Street Sweeper $125,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-77 PW Admin SUV 4-door $45,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-78 ATV Snow Blower ATV mounted 2-stage snow blower $6,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-79 Skid Steer Snowblower Will attatch to Skid Steer $9,000 Equipment Acqu. PW N/A
E5-80 125' Boom Lift For IT and PW $275,000 Equipment Acqu. IT/PW N/A

Project
ID

Short Name Description
*See respective FY Addendum tabs for more detailed info.

Estimated
Total Project

Cost

County Fund Project
Location

FTE



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 3

E5-81 Pickup Com Dev Code Enforcer Vehicle $50,000 Equipment Acqu. ComDev N/A
FY25 Equipment Total $2,248,000

FY25 STUDIES/PLANS
S5-90 TRI Drainage Study Drainage needs for TRI on County-owned roads and parcels $120,000 Planning TRI 0.11
S5-91 Fairgrounds Traffic Study Evaluate traffic control needs for upgraded Fairgrounds $150,000 Capital VC 0.11

FY25 Studies/Plans Total $270,000
FY25 TOTAL $25,426,000

Project
ID

Short Name Description
*See respective FY Addendum tabs for more detailed info.

Estimated
Total Project

Cost

County Fund Project
Location

FTE



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible action to acknowledge that the $250,000.00 liability
owed by the Nevada Commission for the Reconstruction of the V & T Railway, a body
corporate and politic of the State of Nevada, to the County of Storey, a political
subdivision of the State of Nevada, which was created in the V&T Interlocal Agreement
of 2010 was eliminated in the superseding V&T Interlocal Agreement of 2020, and to
direct staff to remove the liability in the appropriate accounting records.

• Recommended motion: I [county commissioner] move to acknowledge that the
$250,000.00 liability owed by the Nevada Commission for the Reconstruction of the V &
T Railway, a body corporate and politic of the State of Nevada, to the County of Storey, a
political subdivision of the State of Nevada, which was created in the V&T Interlocal
Agreement of 2010 was eliminated in the superseding V&T Interlocal Agreement of
2020, and direct staff to remove the liability in the appropriate accounting records.

• Prepared by: Anne Langer

Department: District Attorney     Contact Number: (775) 847-0964

• Staff Summary: On May 20, 2010, the Nevada Commission for the Reconstruction of
the V & T Railway, a body corporate and politic of the State of Nevada (Commission),
and the County of Storey, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada(County) entered
into an interlocal agreement. See attached May 20, 2010 Interlocal Agreement. Part of
that interlocal agreement included an acknowledgement of a one time grant from the
Commission to the County in the amount of $250,000.00, to match Storey County’s
identical amount for the purchase of the old freight depot in Virginia City. On August 29,
2019, ownership of the old freight depot was recorded as transferred to Storey County by
way of a recorded deed.  See Attached.  Thereafter on May 19, 2020, the Commission
and the County entered into a new interlocal agreement which specifically states that the
May 19, 2010 agreement is superseded by the May 20, 2020 agreement. See attached
May 19, 2020, Interlocal Agreement. The $250,000.00 obligation contained in May 10,
2010 was not carried over and thereby eliminated in the May 19, 2020 Interlocal
Agreement.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

       14



• Fiscal Impact: None on local government.

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued























WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
County of Storey. a political subdivision of the State of 
Nevada 
P. 0. Box 176 
Virginia City. NV 89440 

MAIL TAX ST A TEMENTS TO: 
Same As Above 

Escrow No. 1904609-DKD 

Doc #: 130304 
08/29/2019 01:13 PM Page: 1 of5 

OFFICIAL RECORD 
Requested By: TICOR TITLE - CC (NVT 

Storey County, NV 
Marney Hansen Martinez, Recorder 
Fee: $0.00 RPTT: $0.00 
Recorded By: rmartinoni 

The undersigned hereby affirms that this document 
submitted for recording does not contain the social 
security number of any person or persons. SIGNED IN COUNTERPART 
(Pursuant to ~RS 239b.030 

APN No.: 001-088-03 1C() -~(o-O', Q?l-(11(p·01. SPACE ABOVE FOR RECORDER'S USE ONLY 
R.P.T.T. S0.00 

GRANT, BARGAIN, SALE DEED 

THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH: That Terry A Ward. a single man as to Parcel I and David Pierce 
Powell. Trustee otthe David Pierce Powell Revocable Living Trust as to Parcels 2 and 3 

FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, do/docs hereby Grant. 
Bargain, Sell and Convey to County of Storey. a political subdivision of the State of Nevada 

all that real property situated in the County of Storey, State of Nevada. described as follows: 
SEE EXHIBIT '"A .. ATTACHED HERETO AND BY REFERENCE MADE A PART HEREOF 

Together with all and singular the tenements, hercditaments and appurtenances thereunto belonging or in 
anywise appertaining. 



The David Pierce Powell Revocable Living 
Trust 

David Pierce Powell, Trustee 

ST ATE OF NEV ADA 
COUNTY OF CARSON CITY 

130304 08/29/2019 Page 2 of 6 

SIGNED IN COUNTERPART 
Terry A Ward 

} ss: 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on , 6 · 2-~ • l 9 
by Terry A Ward and David Pierce Powell, Truste-e-------"=---=--=---..!..__ _____ _ 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

f11"'""1111111■n■,Ht11111111111,111n1111111n11 ........... ""'''' 'a·. DANIELLE DEW1n"'"'" ... 'I 
I . Notary Public • State of Nevada i 
i •• Appoirtmem Racotded 1n Waehoe Courty I 
i No: 911-411685-2 . c...i- n..-,. __ 6 ,,,.,,, i UIIIHhlltfllHINHI ~-~IUIR t c;uc,e. i 

lliNtllNhlllllltllll"'"'""1111NIIHltll,HlflltllNlllltllli' 



The David Pierce Powell Revocable Living 

T~~~~ 
David Pierce Powell, Trustee 

SIGNED IN COUNTERPART 

STA TE OF NEV ADA 
COUNTY OF CARSON CITY 

130304 08/29/2019 Page 3 of 6 

} ss: 

This instrument was aclmowledged before me on , tC> g - ~ g-- d-<J ( <J 
by Terry A Ward and Dll'l-id Pieree Pewel-l Trastee-dh ... 'ty 

NOTARY PUBLIC 



Escrow No. 1904609-DKD 

130304 08/29/2019 Page 4 of 6 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

All that certain real property situate in the County of Storey, State of Nevada, described as follows: 

TI-IE SURF ACE RIGHTS ONLY IN AND TO: 

PARCEL 1 

Lot 13 in Block 67, Range D, as shown on the Official Map of Virginia City, filed June 6, 1865 in 
the office of the County Recorder of Storey County, State ofNevada. 

Excepting therefrom any portion of the herein described lands lying within the existing public right 
of way for roads and appurtenances thereto. 

APN: 001-096-01 

PARCEL2 

Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12 in Block 67, Range Das shown on the official map of 
Virginia City, filed June 6, 1985 in the office of the County Recorder of Storey County, State of 
Nevada. 

EXCEPTING TIIBREFROM any portion of the herein described lands lying within the existing 
public right-of-way for roads and appurtenances thereto. .-

APN: 001-096-02 

PARCEL3 

Lots 1 through 9A, inclusive in Block 86, Range D, as shown on the Official Map of Virginia City, 
filed June 6, 1865 in the office of the County Recorder of Storey County, State ofNevada. 

Reference is further made to lot 9A as set for on Record of Survey map recorded in the Office of 
the Storey County Recorder, State of Nevada. 

Excepting therefrom any portion of the herein described lands lying within the existing public right 
of way for roads and appurtenances thereto. 

APN: 001 ~088-03 



STATE OF NEVADA 
DECLARATION OF VALUE FORM 
1. Assessor Parcel Number(s) 

2. 

a. 001-088-03 
b. 001-096-01 
C. 001-096-02 
d. 

Type of Property: 
a. 14 Vacant Land 
c. □ Condo/Twnhse 
e. □ Apt. Bldg 
g. □ Agricultural 
i. Other 

b. □ 
d. □ 
f. fl 
h. □ 

Single Fam. Res. 
2-4 Plex 
Comm'l/lnd'I 
Mobile Home 

3. a. Total Value/Sales Price of Property: 
b. Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure Only (value of property) 
c. Transfer Tax Value 
d. Real Property Transfer Tax Due: 

130304 08/29/2019 Page 6 of 6 

FOR RECORDERS OPTIONAL USE ONLY 
Book _____ Page 
Date of Recording: 
Notes: 

$ 695,000.00 
$ 
$ 695,000.00 
$ 0.00 

4. If Exemption Claimed . 
a. Transfer Tax Exemption, per NRS 375.090, Section .:t/=2-
b. Explain Reason for Exemption: ~tfz W--...S-~--------lv-i/----

bzl·Vfii.W/J7i77,)T £-zl1 7L7'-4 uJ.::RJlt)uV-: C~--e&76'v J 

5. Partial Interest: Percentage being transferred: 100% 
The undersigned declares and acknowledges, under penalty of perjury, pursuant to NRS 375.060 and NRS 
375.110, that the information provided is correct to the best of their information and belief, and can be 
supported by documentation if called upon to substantiate the information provided herein. Furthermore, the 
parties agree that disallowance of any claimed exemption, or other determination of additional tax due, may 
result in a penalty of 10% of the tax ue plus interest at 1 % per month. Pursuant to NRS 375.030, the Buyer 
and Selle~ shall be jo· ti s erall liable for any additional amou_nt owe~d 

Signature ----~--=:::,,-------- Capacity ~ 
Signature ________________ Capacity 

SELLER (GRANTOR) INFORMATION 
(REQUIRED) 

Print Name: Terry A Ward and David Pierce 
Powell, Trustee 

BUYER (GRANTEE) INFORMATION 
(REQUIRED) 

Print Name: County of Storey, a political 
subdivision of the State of Nevada 

COMPANY/PERSON REQUESTING RECORDING (Required if notSeller or Buyer) 
Print Name: Ticor Title of Nevada, Inc. Escrow No.: 01904609-010-DKD 
Address: 307 W. Winnie Lane Suite #1 
City, State, Zip: Carson City, NV 89703 

AS A PUBLIC RECORD THIS FORM MAY BE RECORDED/MICROFILMED 

Declaration of Value 
SFRM0071 (DSI Rev. 12/22/16) Page 1 

Printed: 8/29/2019 11 :41 AM by BAV 
Escrow No.: 01904609-010-DKD 



Storey County Liquor Licensing Board
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of the First Reading On-Sale/Off-Sale
Liquor License. The applicant is Arturo Valadez, Bonanza Cantina located at 27 North C
Street, Virginia City, Nevada.

• Recommended motion: I (insert name) motion to approve the First Reading On-
Sale/Off-Sale Liquor License. The applicant is Arturo Valadez, Bonanza Cantina located
at 27 North C Street, Virginia City, Nevada.

• Prepared by: Dore Nevin

Department: Sheriff     Contact Number: 775-847-0959

• Staff Summary: First Reading On-Sale/Off-Sale Liquor License. The applicant is Arturo
Valadez, Bonanza Cantina located at 27 North C Street, Virginia City, Nevada.

• Supporting Materials: No Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       16



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration for an additional expenditure of approximately $885,490.52 for the
Lockwood Senior Center Rebuild Project, due to the cost of inflation for goods and
services since the initial estimate in January 2023.

• Recommended motion: Discussion only, no possible action.

• Prepared by: Honey Coughlin

Department: Business Development     Contact Number: 7755463183

• Staff Summary: The January 26, 2023, estimated cost for the Lockwood Senior Center
Rebuild project was $4,759,226.80 ($559.51 per sf). The new cost estimate as of March
8, 2024, is $5,644,717.32 ($663.62 sf). There was a significant delay to this project due to
the issues we had with gaining access to HUD’s portals and online databases and the lack
of communication and assistance from our HUD representative, which held up the
approval of our application.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      18





































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
between Storey County and CC Communications (ongoing operation of Churchill
County, Nevada) to deploy and provide rate structures for fiberoptic broadband internet
service to residential, commercial, and enterprise customers in Storey County, and other
properly related matters.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between Storey County and CC Communications (ongoing
operation of Churchill County, Nevada) to deploy and provide rate structures for
fiberoptic broadband internet service to residential, commercial, and enterprise customers
in Storey County.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department: Commissioners     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: This MOU will allow CC Communications (ongoing operation of
Churchill County, Nevada) to deploy and provide broadband internet services in Storey
County. Installation and service rates will be charged to subscribing customers in
accordance with the rate schedule enclosed herewith. This item will be proceeded by
consideration of a Broadband Service Agreement between Storey County and CC
Communications for the deployment and maintenance of fiberoptic broadband network
infrastructure in Storey County and to provide residential broadband internet,
Commercial Broadband Service, and Enterprise Broadband Service.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

      19



• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Page 1 of 3 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN 

CC COMMUNICATIONS AND STOREY COUNTY 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (“MoU”) entered into as of the ____ 

day of ________________, 2024 is made by and between CC Communications an ongoing 

operation of Churchill County Nevada, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, (“CC 

Communications”) and Storey County, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, (“Storey 

County”) each of Storey County and CC Communications may also be collectively referred to in 

this Agreement as the “Parties” or, individually, as a “Party.” 

WHEREAS, CC Communications has an extensive network of fiber to the home (FTTH) 

systems within Northern Nevada, and, 

WHEREAS, Storey County is a political subdivision of the State of Nevada empowered 

to address local concerns such a telecommunication services, and would be benefitted by the 

deployment of a fiber optic network within the project area; and 

WHEREAS, CC Communications has designed, engineered, and will deploy FTTH 

service to Storey County citizenry at a fair cost pursuant to a Service Provider Agreement executed 

currently herewith and included herein by reference. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, conditions and 

obligations contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the Parties hereby 

agree as follows: 



Page 2 of 3 

1.) BROADBAND SERVICE PLANS 
CC Communications’ shall provide FTTH broadband service for residential customers according 

to the following rate schedule: 

Fiber to the Premise (Basic Internet Service) 

Bandwidth** Monthly Rate 
100/100 MBPS $54.99 (qualifying ACP or successor income limits) 
100/100 MBPS $69.99 
150/150 MBPS w/Unlimited Calling $89.99 
250/250 MBPS $89.99 
500/500 MBPS $99.99 
1GB/1GB $119.99 
*Speeds up to, and will comply with FCC speed test requirements

CC Communications reserves the right to adjust the monthly rate of its services to meet the general 

business needs of the enterprise and prevailing needs of the community subject to restrictions as 

set by the FCC.  CC Communications agrees that the rate of the lowest priced FTTH service tier, 

not including subsidized rates, shall not increase in price for at least five years from the date of the 

first customer served.  Customers will be required to adhere to an Acceptable Use Policy and meet 

credit and deposit check requirements.  Enterprise and Commercial rates are available on an 

individually quoted basis.   

2.) INSTALLTION COSTS 

To ensure access to the fiber network, installation charges for residential customers served as part 

of the Service Provider Agreement will be limited.  Installation charges for those residential 

customers shall not exceed one hundred dollars ($100) for drops of less than five hundred feet 

(500ft), and shall be at cost, not to exceed one-thousand dollars ($1,000), for drops exceeding five 

hundred feet (500ft). 

3.) ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

CC Communications intends to provide additional services to customers on an add-on basis at the 

following rates: 



Page 3 of 3 

Additional Services 

Service Monthly Rate 
Unlimited Calling $29.99 
Managed WiFi $9.99 
Virus/Malware Protection Data backup $4.99 

Additional Services are provided to customers based those services reasonably calculated to meet 

the needs of broadband customers in the area.  CC Communications reserves the right to adjust the 

monthly rate, add additional services, or terminate offered services in this category in its sole 

judgment. 

4.) SERVICE COMMITMENTS 

CC Communications is dedicated to protecting the privacy and data security of all its subscribers.  

CC Communications will not collect personal data from a customer’s use of services, except when 

compelled by law or for use in network management and troubleshooting.  CC Communications 

will never sell customer data or block lawful internet traffic.  

5.) ONGOING EFFORTS 

CC Communications and Storey County agree to enter into good faith discussions to ensure the 

continued use and expansion of broadband services to Storey County citizens by CC 

Communications as funding and population densities allow. 

CC Communications Storey County  

By: By:  

MYLES GETTO JAY CARMONA 

CHAIRMAN, CHURCHILL COUNTY CHAIRMAN, STOREY COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY  BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
COMMISSIONERS 

Dated: Dated: 



1 

POLE RIGHT TRANSFER AGREEMENT 

This Pole Right Transfer Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on this, the 
_________________ day of _________________________, 2024, by and between CC 
Communications, and Comstock Community Television, Inc. (hereinafter Comstock). 

Recitals 

WHEREAS, CC Communications is a statutory enterprise of Churchill County, a political 
subdivision of the State of Nevada with significant interest in expanding access to broadband 
internet and other communications technologies within Storey County; and 

WHEREAS, Comstock is a non-profit corporation with an ownership interest or right of access 
to utilize telephone poles for the installation of communication equipment; and 

WHEREAS, Comstock is in the process of dissolution and the winding up of affairs pursuant to 
NRS 82.446 and no longer intends to beneficially utilize its rights to pole transfer Agreements 
but remains responsible for the potential liabilities associated therewith. 

NOW THEREFORE,  in consideration of the matters described above, and of the mutual benefits 
and obligations set forth in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Transfer by Comstock.

a. Comstock shall transfer all right, title, and interests associated with all telephone
poles, rights of attachment, communication equipment, easements, and rights of
access along the Network Map, attached as Exhibit A, to CC Communications.
Such transfer shall explicitly include all right to attach, remove, replace, and/or
modify existing attachments on all such poles.

2. Obligations of CC Communications.
a. CC Communications shall accept all responsibility for maintenance, removal, or

care for all poles, attachments, and communication equipment transferred
pursuant to this Agreement.  CC Communications shall ensure that all materials
received pursuant to this agreement is operated in conformance with state and
federal regulations.

3. Approval.  The Parties represent and warrant that the person executing this Agreement
on behalf of its Party has authority to enter into this Agreement and bind its respective
party.



2 

4. Effective Date.  The Effective Date of this Agreement shall be upon execution of the last
signature to this Agreement and the approval and execution of the Service Provider
Agreement between CC Communications and Storey County.

5. Breach and Remedies.  Failure of either party to perform any obligation of this
Agreement shall be deemed a breach.  Except as otherwise provided for by law of this
Agreement, the rights and remedies of the parties shall be limited to the actual damages
set forth herein and shall not include any consequential damages.  Failure to declare a
breach or the actual waiver of any particular breach of the Agreement or its material or
nonmaterial terms by either party shall not operate as a waiver by such party of any of its
rights or remedies as to any other breach.  Nothing herein shall grant any third-party any
rights under this Agreement.

6. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either Party for any material breach
of this Agreement.  Termination shall be effective upon delivery of ten (10) days written
notice to the other Party of the breach and their intent to terminate.  The defaulting party
shall have an opportunity to cure the default within ten (10) days from receipt of the
notice of breach without penalty.  If the defaulting party fails to cure the default, this
Agreement shall immediately terminate and the obligation of the parties shall cease.

7. Independent Parties.  The parties are associated with each other only for the purposes
and to the extent set forth in this Agreement, and in respect to performance of services
pursuant to this Agreement, each party is and shall be a public agency separate and
distinct from the other party and, subject only to the terms of this Agreement, shall have
the sole right to supervise, manage, operate, control, and direct performance of the details
incident to its duties under this Agreement.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be
deemed or construed to create a partnership or joint venture, to create relationships of an
employer-employee or principal-agent, or to otherwise create any liability for one agency
whatsoever with respect to indebtedness, liabilities, and obligations of the other agency or
any other party.

8. Indemnification.  To the fullest extent of limited liability as set forth in this Agreement,
and except for the obligations contained in this Agreement, each party shall indemnify,
hold harmless and defend not excluding the other's right to participate the other from and
against all liability, claims, actions, damages, losses, and expenses, including but not
limited to reasonable attorney's fees and costs, arising out of any alleged negligent or
willful acts or omissions of the party, its officers, employees, and agents. Such obligation
shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or otherwise reduce any other right or
obligation of indemnity, which would otherwise exist as to any party or person, described
in the paragraph.

9. Choice of Law.  It is the intention of the parties hereto that this Agreement, as to its
construction and performance be interpreted, and all suits and special proceedings, be
construed under the laws of the State of Nevada; and, that any action, special proceeding



3 

or other proceeding that may be brought arising out of, in connection with, or by reason 
of this Agreement, the laws of the State of Nevada shall be applicable and shall govern to 
the exclusion of the law of any other forum, without regard to the jurisdiction in which 
any action or special proceeding may be instituted. 

10. Venue.  The parties agree that any action brought arising from this Agreement shall be
brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in the County of Storey, State of Nevada.

11. Modification. Any modification to this Agreement must be made in writing and signed
by all parties hereto.

12. Assignment. Neither Party shall assign, transfer, or delegate any rights, obligations, or
duties under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party.

13. Entire Agreement. This Agreement embodies the whole agreement of the Parties.  There
are no promises, terms, conditions, or obligations other than those contained in this
Agreement.  This Agreement shall supersede all other previous communications,
representations, or agreements, either verbal or written, between the Parties.

14. Notices.  Any notices required under the terms of this Agreement shall be made by either
US Mail or hand delivery to the following:

CC Communications:    Comstock Community Television
Mark Feest     Joe Curtis
899 S. Maine St.
Fallon, NV 89406

IN WITNESS OF THE ABOVE, each Party to this Agreement has caused it to be 
executed on the date shown below. 

CC COMMUNICATIONS COMSTOCK 

Dated _____ day of _____________, 2024 Dated _____ day of _____________, 2024 

Mark Feest Joe Curtis 
General Manager, CC Communications President, Comstock Community 

Television 



4 

EXHIBIT A 
NETWORK MAP 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of Service Provider Agreement between CC
Communications (ongoing operation of Churchill County, Nevada) and Storey County
for the deployment and maintenance of fiberoptic broadband network infrastructure in
Storey County and to provide Residential Broadband Internet, Commercial Broadband
Service, and Enterprise Broadband Service for 10 years, with an initial payment of
$1,500,000 made to CC Communications by Storey County, in accordance with the
Memorandum of Understanding between the parties approved by the board on or before
this agreement, and other properly related matters.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve Service Provider
Agreement between CC Communications (ongoing operation of Churchill County,
Nevada) and Storey County for the deployment and maintenance of fiberoptic broadband
network infrastructure in Storey County and to provide Residential Broadband Internet,
Commercial Broadband Service, and Enterprise Broadband Service for 10 years, with an
initial payment of $1,500,000 made to CC Communications by Storey County, in
accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding between the parties approved by the
board on or before this agreement.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department: Commissioners     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: This Services Provider Agreement will enable CC Communications
(ongoing operation of Churchill County, Nevada) to deploy and provide broadband
internet infrastructure and services in Storey County. Storey County will contribute an
initial payment of $1,500,000 that will be applied to the purchase and installation of
fiberoptic equipment serving Storey County customers. This action will follow
consideration of a Memorandum of Understanding between the parties to deploy and
provide rate structures for broadband internet services.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: TRUE

       20



• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 1 of 12 

SERVICE PROVIDER AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

CC COMMUNICATIONS AN ONGOING OPERATION OF  

CHURCHILL COUNTY, A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

AND 

STOREY COUNTY, A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

THIS SERVICE PROVIDER AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) entered into as of the ____ 

day of ________________, 2024 is made by and between CC Communications an ongoing 

operation of Churchill County Nevada, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, (“CC 

Communications”) and Storey County, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, (“Storey 

County”) each of Storey County and CC Communications may also be collectively referred to in 

this Agreement as the “Parties” or, individually, as a “Party.” 

WHEREAS, CC Communications has been a telecommunications provider in Northern 

Nevada for over 125 years with experience in nearly every telecommunication advancement 

during that period.  CC Communications has an extensive network of fiber to the home (FTTH) 

systems within Northern Nevada, including operations in Elko and Spring Creek; and, 

WHEREAS, Storey County is a political subdivision of the State of Nevada empowered 

to address local concerns such a telecommunication services, and would be benefitted by the 

deployment of a fiber optic network within the project area; and 

WHEREAS, CC Communications has designed, engineered, and created a capital budget 

for the project, for which Storey County has reviewed and determined meets the needs and 

expectations of its citizenry at a fair cost; and 

WHEREAS, each Party recognizes the efficiencies realized in the construction of a fiber 

optic network within Storey County to effectuate the operations desired by both Parties and to best 

serve the members of the public, and is willing to work in partnership to achieve those goals with 

the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, conditions and 

obligations contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 2 of 12 

sufficiency of which the Parties hereby acknowledge, and intending to be legally bound hereby, 

the Parties hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1:  TERM OF AGREEMENT 

1.1 This Agreement shall become effective on ____________ _____, 2024, the 

effective date.  This Agreement shall be in effect for a period of ten (10) years 

expiring on _________ ____, 2034.   

1.2 This Agreement shall automatically renew for five (5) year terms unless either party 

provides notice of non-renewal at least one (1) year prior to the end of the then 

current term. Upon notice of intent not to renew, the parties will enter a ninety (90) 

day good faith negotiation period during which time they will (1) agree to a 

transition plan, or (2) enter mutually agreeable changes to the then current terms of 

the Service Provider Agreement.  

ARTICLE 2:  TELECOMMUNICATION SERVICES AND FEES 

2.1 CC Communications shall deploy fiber network infrastructure (the “Network”) in 

Storey County substantially as set forth in the attached Network Plan, see Exhibit 

1, to provide broadband service within a portion of Virginia City, (the “Service 

Area”).   

2.2 CC Communications shall make available to Storey County residents within the 

Service Area telecommunication services including Fiber to the Home broadband 

internet, Commercial Broadband Service, and Enterprise Broadband Service as set 

forth in an accompanying Memorandum of Understanding between the Parties.  

Customers must agree to a standard Internet Acceptable Use Policy and an 

Acknowledgement of Plan Selection prior to receiving service. 

2.3 Throughout the life of this Agreement, CC Communications shall offer and market 

Enterprise Broadband Service throughout the Service Area, with plans that are 

reasonably calculated to meet the bandwidth and other broadband-related needs of 

community anchor institutions and other enterprise broadband users available at the 

time the Customer subscribes to services. 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 3 of 12 

2.4 Storey County shall provide CC Communications with access to all public and non-

public rights-of-way and/or easements under its control through which the fiber 

network may be deployed.   

2.5 CC Communications shall provide standard broadband service to designated 

government services buildings identified in the Network Plan without cost to Storey 

County. 

ARTICLE 3: CAPITAL FUNDING 

3.1 Storey County shall provide Churchill County funds in the amount of one-million 

five hundred thousand ($1,500,000) to be used solely to purchase and deploy fiber 

network infrastructure in Storey County as set forth in the Network Plan.   

ARTICLE 4: PRIVATE DATA SECURITY 

4.1 CC Communications will not collect personal data from a customer’s use of 

services, except when compelled by law or for use in network management and 

troubleshooting. 

4.2 CC Communications will never sell customer data. 

4.3 CC Communications will not block lawful internet traffic. 

ARTICLE 5:  DEPLOYMENT OF INFRASTRUCTURE 

5.1 CC Communications shall deploy last mile FTTH Active Ethernet or XGS-PON at 

the locations described in the attached Network Map.  See Exhibit 1.  Installation 

will be performed by CC Communications employees or its licensed contractors. 

5.2 CC Communications shall utilize its existing fabric core and fiber network to 

integrate Storey County customers in a like manner as Churchill County, Spring 

Creek, and Elko customers. 

5.3 Deployment of infrastructure shall be done substantially in compliance with the 

Network Plan. 

5.4 CC Communications and Storey County shall collaboratively review opportunities 

to expand services outside of areas identified in the network plan, including federal 

and state grant opportunities.  CC Communications shall specifically review any 

potential opportunities to expand to the Virginia Highlands in good faith.  The terms 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 4 of 12 

of any agreement to deploy infrastructure outside of the network plan shall be part 

of a separate agreement.  

5.5 CC Communications and Storey County agree that the Network Map is based 

partially upon utilization of poles and infrastructure associated with the Comstock 

Pole Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit B.  Should any third-party necessary for 

utilization of Pole infrastructure refuse to allow access as contemplated hereunder, 

Storey County and CC Communications agree to meet and discuss in good faith 

amendments to the Network Map as may be required to facilitate deployment. 

ARTICLE 6:  OWNERSHIP 

6.1 The fiber infrastructure deployed shall remain the sole and exclusive property of 

CC Communications and legal title shall be held by CC Communications.   CC 

Communications may not (a) place any lien or encumbrance on the Network or (b) 

sell, lease or otherwise transfer the Network to any other party, without Storey 

County’s consent, in each case solely to the extent such lien, encumbrance, sale, 

lease, or transfer materially impacts the Services to be provided by CC 

Communications.  CC Communications shall pay any and all federal, state and local 

property or other taxes associated with the ownership of the Network. 

6.2 Storey County shall not authorize any other telecommunication service provider to 

utilize the infrastructure during the term of this Agreement or without the prior 

written consent of CC Communications. 

6.3 CC Communications shall install and own all electronic components utilized in the 

operation of the fiber network associated with the deployed infrastructure, as well 

as other infrastructure.  CC Communications shall be responsible for the payment 

of any and all maintenance and license fees and costs associated with the electronic 

components. 

ARTICLE 7: RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL 

7.1 Should this Agreement terminate or not be renewed for the convenience of CC 

Communications or due to its breach of any material term herein, CC 

Communications shall offer to a telecommunication service provider of Storey 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 5 of 12 

County’s choice, the right of refusal to purchase all fiber infrastructure and 

electronic components, and all associated warranties and maintenance materials, 

for the then existing depreciated value of the network. 

ARTICLE 8:  MAINTENANCE 

8.1 During the term of the Service Provider Agreement, CC Communications shall pay 

for all maintenance costs associated with infrastructure deployed as part of the 

Project Plan.  Maintenance shall be dictated by network performance measures, 

alarms, and visual inspections.  CC Communications shall further maintain all 

electronics and equipment attached to any pole utilized as part of the Network Plan. 

8.2 CC Communications or its contractors will regularly inspect facilities and 

infrastructure at least once per month. 

8.3 CC Communications shall respond to all trouble tickets generated by CC 

Communications customers. 

ARTICLE 9:  PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 

9.1 CC Communications shall comply with all FCC requirements for the performance 

of facilities installed pursuant to this Agreement.  CC Communications shall further 

comply with all proposed and adopted FCC performance testing measurements for 

speed relative to subscribed service. 

ARTICLE 10:  DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 

10.1 A Party shall be in default under this Agreement if it materially violates any 

applicable law, regulation, statute, ordinance, code or other legal requirement with 

respect to the obligations hereunder or fails to perform any material obligation 

under this Agreement, and such breach is not remedied within thirty (30) days after 

receipt of a Dispute Notice as contemplated under Article 13.   

10.2 In addition to any remedies available at law or in equity, the non-defaulting Party 

hereunder may terminate this Agreement upon the occurrence of default. 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 6 of 12 

10.3 OBLIGATIONS: 

10.3.1 The Parties agree that CC Communication’s obligations under this 

Agreement that derive from the Grant, are material obligations, and CC 

Communication’s failure to perform such obligations shall give Storey 

County the right to terminate this Agreement. 

10.3.2 If Storey County terminates this Agreement for default by CC 

Communications, or if CC Communications terminates this Agreement for 

its own benefit, CC Communications will preserve and protect the Network 

at its own expense while it works with Storey County in good faith to 

transition the performance of activities under this Agreement to another 

party selected by Storey County.  CC Communication will retain 

responsibility for operating and maintaining the Network until another party 

agrees to take on this responsibility. The provisions of this Section 9 shall 

survive termination of this Agreement. For avoidance of doubt, the 

provisions of this Section shall not apply should CC Communications 

terminate this Agreement for default by Storey County or should either 

Party elect not to renew the Agreement as contemplated in Article 1. 

ARTICLE 11: ASSIGNMENT. 

11 

11.1 Neither Party may transfer or assign, voluntarily or by operation of law, this 

Agreement or its duties and obligations contained in this Agreement without the 

prior written notice to and written consent of the other Party.  This Agreement shall 

be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective 

permitted successors and assigns. 

ARTICLE 12:  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

12 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 7 of 12 

12.1 Each Party represents and warrants that the undersigned has full authority to enter 

into this Agreement and hereby accepts this Agreement on behalf of their 

companies; it has full right and authority, including any requisite corporate 

authority, to perform its respective obligations under this Agreement; the execution 

of this Agreement is not violative of its charter, by-laws or any law, regulation or 

agreement by which it is bound or to which it is subject; and no litigation or 

governmental proceeding is pending or threatened in writing which might have a 

material adverse effect on this Agreement, the transaction contemplated by this 

Agreement or the rights of the Parties hereunder. 

ARTICLE 13:  INDEMNIFICATION 

13 

13.1 Each Party shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the other Party and its 

respective directors, officers, agents, employees, successors and assigns from and 

against all Claims sustained in any action commenced by any third party in 

connection with the Indemnifying Party’s performance of, or failure to perform, its 

obligations and duties under this Agreement except for those Claims arising from 

the negligence or willful misconduct of the Indemnified Party.   

ARTICLE 14:  LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY 

14 

14.1 Each Party shall not be liable for loss or damage occasioned by a Force Majeure 

Event and to the extent allowed by law, for injury to or death of any person and for 

damage to or loss of any property arising out of or attributable to its operations and 

performance under this Agreement.  Each Party’s total liability to the other Party 

in connection with this Agreement for any and all causes and Claims whether based 

in contract, warranty, negligence or otherwise shall be limited to the actual direct 

damages sustained by the other Party.   

14.2 EXCEPT FOR A PARTY’S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH 

IN ARTICLE 12 ABOVE AND EXCEPT FOR CLAIMS ARISING FROM A 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 8 of 12 

PARTY’S INTENTIONAL MISCONDUCT, IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER 

PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY INDIRECT, 

INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES 

WHATSOEVER, ARISING OUT OF, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS 

AGREEMENT, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, LOST PROFITS, LOST 

REVENUE, LOSS OF GOODWILL, LOSS OF ANTICIPATED SAVINGS, 

LOSS OF DATA, INCURRED OR SUFFERED BY EITHER PARTY, 

WHETHER IN AN ACTION IN CONTRACT OR TORT, EVEN IF THE OTHER 

PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE 

POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH 

IN THIS AGREEMENT, THE PARTIES MAKES NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS, 

IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE AS TO THE DESCRIPTION, 

QUALITY, MERCHANTABILITY, COMPLETENESS OR FITNESS FOR ANY 

PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE OF THE SERVICE, LOCAL ACCESS OR 

ANY OTHER MATTER, AND ANY SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY 

EXCLUDED AND DISCLAIMED. 

ARTICLE 15:  NOTICES 

15 

15.1 All notices shall be in writing and shall be delivered by certified mail return receipt 

requested or by nationally recognized overnight delivery that provides proof of 

delivery.  Any such notice shall be deemed effective on the date of mailing.  All 

notices including any Dispute Notice which identifies the default of either party to 

a term of this Agreement shall be addressed to the Parties as specified below: 

If to CC Communications: CC Communications 
50 West Williams Ave 
Fallon, NV 89406 
Attention: Mark Feest 
775-423-7171



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 9 of 12 

If to Storey County: Storey County 
PO Box 176 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
Attention: County Manager 
775.847.0968 

ARTICLE 16:  GOVERNING LAW & WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL 

16 

16.1 This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the 

validity and performance hereof shall be governed by the laws of the State of 

Nevada, without reference to its conflicts of law principles. Each Party hereby 

submits to the jurisdiction and venue of the courts in Storey County for purposes 

of any litigation related to the Agreement and irrevocably waives any defense of an 

inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any action or proceeding in any such 

court, any objection to venue with respect to any such action or proceeding and any 

right of jurisdiction on account of the place of residence or domicile of any Party 

thereto.  Each Party hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives the right to a 

jury trial in connection with any Claim arising out of or related to this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 17:  TAXES AND FRANCHISE, LEASE AND PERMIT FEES 

17 

17.1 Any Tax consequence arising from the transaction described herein shall be the 

financial responsibility of the Party upon which such incident falls.  The Parties 

agree to file their respective Tax returns on such basis and, except as otherwise 

required by law, not to take any positions inconsistent therewith.   

ARTICLE 18:  MISCELLANEOUS 

18 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 10 of 12 

18.1 Survival.  Any and all provisions of this Agreement which, by their nature, would 

reasonably be expected to be complied with or performed after the expiration or 

termination of this Agreement shall survive and be enforceable after the expiration 

or termination of this Agreement. Termination or expiration of this Agreement shall 

not affect the rights or obligations of either Party that have arisen before the date of 

such termination or expiration. Each Party’s indemnification and confidentiality 

obligations shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement as further 

described herein. 

18.2 Relationship of the Parties.  The relationship of the Parties is that of independent 

contractors and not as the agent, employee or legal representative of the other.  Each 

Party has and hereby retains the right to exercise full control of and supervision 

over the performance of its obligations hereunder and full control over the 

employment, direction, compensation and discharge of its employees assisting in 

the performance of such obligations.  

18.3 Amendment.  No amendments, changes or modifications to this Agreement shall 

be valid except if the same are in writing and signed by a duly authorized 

representative of each of the Parties. 

18.4 Rules of Construction.  The captions or headings in this Agreement are strictly for 

convenience and shall not be considered in interpreting this Agreement or as 

amplifying or limiting any of the terms, provisions, or conditions of this Agreement. 

Words in this Agreement which import the singular connotation shall be interpreted 

as plural, and words which import the plural connotation shall be interpreted as 

singular, as the identity of the Parties or objects referred to may require. Any 

capitalized terms used in this Agreement but not defined herein shall have the 

meaning defined in the applicable Underlying Agreement. Unless otherwise 

expressly provided herein, any agreement, instrument or statute defined or referred 

to herein or in any agreement or instrument that is referred to herein means such 

agreement, instrument or statute as from time to time amended, modified or 

supplemented, including (in the case of agreements or instruments) by waiver or 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 11 of 12 

consent and (in the case of statutes) by succession of comparable successor statutes 

and references to all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein. 

18.5 Severability.  In the event that any term or provision of this Agreement is declared 

to be illegal, invalid or unconstitutional, then that provision shall be deemed to be 

deleted from this Agreement and have no force or effect and this Agreement shall 

thereafter continue in full force and effect, as modified. 

18.6 Waiver of Compliance.  Failure of either Party to enforce or insist upon 

compliance with any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall not 

constitute a waiver or relinquishment of any such terms or conditions.  To the 

contrary, the same shall remain at all times in full force and effect. 

18.7 Joint Work Product.  This Agreement is the joint work product of both Parties 

hereto, accordingly, in the event of ambiguity no presumption shall be imposed 

against any Party by reason of document preparation. 

18.8 Incorporation of Recitals.  The above recitals are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by this reference as a part of this Agreement. 

18.9 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including any Exhibits, contains the entire 

agreement between the Parties relating to the rights, duties and obligations granted 

and assumed herein and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous 

communications, understandings and agreements with respect to the subject matter 

hereof, whether written or oral, expressed or implied.  No other agreement, 

statement, promise, or practice between the Parties relating to the Agreement shall 

be binding upon the Parties. This Agreement may only be modified or 

supplemented by an instrument in writing executed by a duly authorized 

representative of each Party. 

18.10 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which 

when executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute 

one and the same instrument.  Electronic signatures shall be treated as originals. 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 
Page 12 of 12 

In confirmation of their consent and agreement to the terms and conditions contained in 

this Agreement and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties have executed this 

Agreement as of the date last written below (“Effective Date”). 

CC Communications Storey County  

By: By:  

MYLES GETTO JAY CARMONA 

CHAIRMAN, CHURCHILL COUNTY CHAIRMAN, STOREY COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY  BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
COMMISSIONERS 

Dated: Dated: 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 

EXHIBIT 1 
NETWORK MAP 



CC Comm and Storey County Partnership Agreement 

EXHIBIT 2 
COMSTOCK POLE AGREEMENT 

(To be added upon approval between the applicable parties.) 



1 

POLE RIGHT TRANSFER AGREEMENT 

This Pole Right Transfer Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on this, the 
_________________ day of _________________________, 2024, by and between CC 
Communications, and Comstock Community Television, Inc. (hereinafter Comstock). 

Recitals 

WHEREAS, CC Communications is a statutory enterprise of Churchill County, a political 
subdivision of the State of Nevada with significant interest in expanding access to broadband 
internet and other communications technologies within Storey County; and 

WHEREAS, Comstock is a non-profit corporation with an ownership interest or right of access 
to utilize telephone poles for the installation of communication equipment; and 

WHEREAS, Comstock is in the process of dissolution and the winding up of affairs pursuant to 
NRS 82.446 and no longer intends to beneficially utilize its rights to pole transfer Agreements 
but remains responsible for the potential liabilities associated therewith. 

NOW THEREFORE,  in consideration of the matters described above, and of the mutual benefits 
and obligations set forth in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Transfer by Comstock.

a. Comstock shall transfer all right, title, and interests associated with all telephone
poles, rights of attachment, communication equipment, easements, and rights of
access along the Network Map, attached as Exhibit A, to CC Communications.
Such transfer shall explicitly include all right to attach, remove, replace, and/or
modify existing attachments on all such poles.

2. Obligations of CC Communications.
a. CC Communications shall accept all responsibility for maintenance, removal, or

care for all poles, attachments, and communication equipment transferred
pursuant to this Agreement.  CC Communications shall ensure that all materials
received pursuant to this agreement is operated in conformance with state and
federal regulations.

3. Approval.  The Parties represent and warrant that the person executing this Agreement
on behalf of its Party has authority to enter into this Agreement and bind its respective
party.



2 

4. Effective Date.  The Effective Date of this Agreement shall be upon execution of the last
signature to this Agreement and the approval and execution of the Service Provider
Agreement between CC Communications and Storey County.

5. Breach and Remedies.  Failure of either party to perform any obligation of this
Agreement shall be deemed a breach.  Except as otherwise provided for by law of this
Agreement, the rights and remedies of the parties shall be limited to the actual damages
set forth herein and shall not include any consequential damages.  Failure to declare a
breach or the actual waiver of any particular breach of the Agreement or its material or
nonmaterial terms by either party shall not operate as a waiver by such party of any of its
rights or remedies as to any other breach.  Nothing herein shall grant any third-party any
rights under this Agreement.

6. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either Party for any material breach
of this Agreement.  Termination shall be effective upon delivery of ten (10) days written
notice to the other Party of the breach and their intent to terminate.  The defaulting party
shall have an opportunity to cure the default within ten (10) days from receipt of the
notice of breach without penalty.  If the defaulting party fails to cure the default, this
Agreement shall immediately terminate and the obligation of the parties shall cease.

7. Independent Parties.  The parties are associated with each other only for the purposes
and to the extent set forth in this Agreement, and in respect to performance of services
pursuant to this Agreement, each party is and shall be a public agency separate and
distinct from the other party and, subject only to the terms of this Agreement, shall have
the sole right to supervise, manage, operate, control, and direct performance of the details
incident to its duties under this Agreement.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be
deemed or construed to create a partnership or joint venture, to create relationships of an
employer-employee or principal-agent, or to otherwise create any liability for one agency
whatsoever with respect to indebtedness, liabilities, and obligations of the other agency or
any other party.

8. Indemnification.  To the fullest extent of limited liability as set forth in this Agreement,
and except for the obligations contained in this Agreement, each party shall indemnify,
hold harmless and defend not excluding the other's right to participate the other from and
against all liability, claims, actions, damages, losses, and expenses, including but not
limited to reasonable attorney's fees and costs, arising out of any alleged negligent or
willful acts or omissions of the party, its officers, employees, and agents. Such obligation
shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or otherwise reduce any other right or
obligation of indemnity, which would otherwise exist as to any party or person, described
in the paragraph.

9. Choice of Law.  It is the intention of the parties hereto that this Agreement, as to its
construction and performance be interpreted, and all suits and special proceedings, be
construed under the laws of the State of Nevada; and, that any action, special proceeding



3 

or other proceeding that may be brought arising out of, in connection with, or by reason 
of this Agreement, the laws of the State of Nevada shall be applicable and shall govern to 
the exclusion of the law of any other forum, without regard to the jurisdiction in which 
any action or special proceeding may be instituted. 

10. Venue.  The parties agree that any action brought arising from this Agreement shall be
brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in the County of Storey, State of Nevada.

11. Modification. Any modification to this Agreement must be made in writing and signed
by all parties hereto.

12. Assignment. Neither Party shall assign, transfer, or delegate any rights, obligations, or
duties under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party.

13. Entire Agreement. This Agreement embodies the whole agreement of the Parties.  There
are no promises, terms, conditions, or obligations other than those contained in this
Agreement.  This Agreement shall supersede all other previous communications,
representations, or agreements, either verbal or written, between the Parties.

14. Notices.  Any notices required under the terms of this Agreement shall be made by either
US Mail or hand delivery to the following:

CC Communications:    Comstock Community Television
Mark Feest     Joe Curtis
899 S. Maine St.
Fallon, NV 89406

IN WITNESS OF THE ABOVE, each Party to this Agreement has caused it to be 
executed on the date shown below. 

CC COMMUNICATIONS COMSTOCK 

Dated _____ day of _____________, 2024 Dated _____ day of _____________, 2024 

Mark Feest Joe Curtis 
General Manager, CC Communications President, Comstock Community 

Television 



4 

EXHIBIT A 
NETWORK MAP 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Discussion and consideration of the board’s position responding to the Nevada
Governor’s Office of Economic Development (GOED) requesting from Storey County a
letter of acknowledgement regarding an application to GOED for partial Sales and Use
Tax Abatement and Personal Property Tax Abatement for a data center planned to
operate in Storey County. There are no real property tax abatements proposed. The tax
abatements are subject to GOED approval per NRS 360 as a “standard partial abatement”
for expansion and recycling.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to direct county staff to submit a letter
to GOED acknowledging an application to GOED for the specified Data Center Sales and
Use Tax Abatement and Personal Property Tax Abatement for a data center planned to
operate in Storey County.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department: County Manager     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: This item is subject to NRS 360 and the application to the Governor’s
Office of Economic Development to receive standard GOED abatements for meeting
established employee hiring, capital investment, and data center benchmarks. The
abatement impacts are summarized in the attached letter from GOED. GOED will
consider the abatements at its 03/21/24 meeting.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

      21



• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued





Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 3/19/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings:
• A. Bonanza Cantina – General / 27 N. C St. ~ Virginia City, NV
• B. FS Solar Nevada LLC – Contractor / 4801 Freidrich Ln. Ste. 100 ~ Austin, TX
• C. Pacific Erectors Inc. – Contractor / 4460 Yankee Hill Rd. ~ Rocklin, CA
• D. The Berg Group LLC – Contractor / 1225 Lakeview Dr. ~ Chaska, MN

• Recommended motion: Approval

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department: Community Development     Contact Number: 775-847-0966

• Staff Summary: Second readings of submitted business license applications are
normally approved unless, for various reasons, requested to be continued to the next
meeting. A follow-up letter noting those to be continued or approved will be submitted
prior to the

• Commission Meeting. The business licenses are then printed and mailed to the
newbusiness license holder.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      22



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office March 11, 2024 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the March 19, 2024 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

SECOND READINGS: 

A. Bonanza Cantina – General / 27 N. C St. ~ Virginia City, NV

B. FS Solar Nevada LLC – Contractor / 4801 Freidrich Ln. Ste. 100 ~ Austin, TX

C. Pacific Erectors Inc. – Contractor / 4460 Yankee Hill Rd. ~ Rocklin, CA

D. The Berg Group LLC – Contractor / 1225 Lakeview Dr. ~ Chaska, MN

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  


	Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the March 19, 2024, meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the February 6, 2024, meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the February 15, 2024, meeting.
	Business License First Readings -- Approval
	Approval of claims in the amount of $2,557,497.49.
	Consideration and approval of the Eagleview aerial imagery and software program for a 5 year contract in the amount of $177,656.38. This is a budgeted item to be paid out of the Assessor's Tech fund.
	Presentation by Storey County School District planned K-8 school facility expansion project.
	Presentation by Foundational Public Health Services (FPHS) Assessment for Storey County stakeholders to guide investment in prevention efforts that will help the United States avoid and/or lessen the disruption of future pandemics and epidemics and focus
	Consideration of a letter of interest for appointment of a planning commissioner to serve a remaining term representing Precinct 5 (Highlands District) on the Storey County Planning Commission.
	Consideration and possible approval of the draft FY25 Storey County Capital Improvement Plan.
	Consideration/possible action to acknowledge that the $250,000.00 liability owed by the Nevada Commission for the Reconstruction of the V & T Railway, a body corporate and politic of the State of Nevada, to the County of Storey, a political subdivision
	For consideration and possible approval of the First Reading On-Sale/Off-Sale Liquor License. The applicant is Arturo Valadez, Bonanza Cantina located at 27 North C Street, Virginia City, Nevada.
	Consideration for an additional expenditure of approximately $885,490.52 for the Lockwood Senior Center Rebuild Project, due to the cost of inflation for goods and services since the initial estimate in January 2023.
	Consideration and possible approval of Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between Storey County and CC Communications (ongoing operation of Churchill County, Nevada) to deploy and provide rate structures for fiberoptic broadband internet service to residen
	Consideration and possible approval of Service Provider Agreement between CC Communications (ongoing operation of Churchill County, Nevada) and Storey County for the deployment and maintenance of fiberoptic broadband network infrastructure in Storey Count
	Discussion and possible consideration of the board’s position responding to the Nevada Governor’s Office of Economic Development (GOED) requesting from Storey County a letter of acknowledgement regarding an application to GOED for partial Sales and Use Ta
	For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings.



